# FORESTRY AND NATURAL SCIENCES

Mengistu Mengesha Maja

Volatile organic compounds emitted from silver birch and European aspen in response to environmental stresses

PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences No 198



### AUTHOR: MENGISTU MENGESHA MAJA

# Volatile organic compounds emitted from silver birch and European aspen in response to environmental stresses

Publications of the University of Eastern Finland

Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences

No 198

Academic Dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry for public examination in the auditorium SN201 at the University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, on December, 15, 2015 at 12 o'clock noon.

Department of Environmental Science

Grano Oy Jyväskylä, 2015 Editor: Research director Pertti Pasanen Distribution: Eastern Finland University Library / Sales of publications julkaisumyynti@uef.fi <u>http://www.uef.fi/kirjasto</u>

ISBN: 978-952-61-1969-4 ISBN: 978-952-61-1970-0 (PDF) ISSNL: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668 (PDF)

| Author's address: | University of Eastern Finland                       |
|-------------------|---|
|                   | Department of Environmental Sciences                |
|                   | P.O.Box 1627, 70211 KUOPIO, FINLAND                 |
|                   | Email: mengistu.maja@uef.fi                         |
|                   |   |
| Supervisors:      | Professor Jarmo Holopainen, PhD.                    |
|                   | University of Eastern Finland                       |
|                   | Department of Environmental Sciences                |
|                   | P.O.Box 1627, 70211 KUOPIO, FINLAND                 |
|                   | Email: <u>jarmo.holopainen@uef.fi</u>               |
|                   | Professor Toini Holopainen, Ph.D.                   |
|                   | University of Eastern Finland                       |
|                   | Department of Environmental Sciences                |
|                   | P O Box 1627 70211 KUOPIO FINI AND                  |
|                   | Email: toini holonainen@uef fi                      |
|                   |   |
|                   | Anne Kasurinen, Ph.D.                               |
|                   | University of Eastern Finland                       |
|                   | Department of Environmental Sciences                |
|                   | P.O.Box 1627, 70211 KUOPIO, FINLAND                 |
|                   | Email: anne.kasurinen@uef.fi                        |
| Reviewers:        | Dr. Sue Owen, Ph.D                                  |
|                   | Centre for Ecology and Hydrology                    |
|                   | Bush Estate, Penicuik, Midlothian                   |
|                   | EH26 00B, SCOTLAND, UK                              |
|                   | Email: <u>susa1@ceh.ac.uk</u>                       |
|                   | Descrit Minne Turning Dh D                          |
|                   | Luisereite of Looland                               |
|                   | University of Lapland                               |
|                   | Arctic Centre, POB 122, FI-96101 Rovaniemi, Finland |
|                   | E-mail: <u>minna.turunen@ulapland.h</u>             |
| Opponent:         | Professor Janne Rinne, PhD                          |
|                   | Department of Geosciences and Geography             |
|                   | POB 64 00014 University of Helsinki, FINLAND        |
|                   | E-mail: janne.rinne@helsinki.fi                     |

### ABSTRACT

Deciduous trees face increasing biotic and abiotic stresses as a result of climate warming and respond in various ways including the emission of volatile organic compounds (VOCs). There is an urgent need to quantify VOC emissions of deciduous trees in response to environmental stresses in order to understand their contribution to the atmospheric carbon and air quality in the face of climate change. The aim of this thesis was to assess VOC emission responses of silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) to short- and long-term herbivory and environmental changes as a result of provenance translocation along a latitudinal gradient. It also assesses the effects of single and combined warming and enhanced UV-B exposure on VOC emission from European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.).

In the first experiment, long-term (30 days) and short-term (0-48 hours) foliar herbivory experiments were carried out on potted silver birch plants by infesting them with geometrid moth species (*Agriopis aurantiaria* Clerck) and *Erannis defoliaria* Hübner). Besides foliar herbivory, there was a bark herbivory by pine weevil (*Hylobius abietis* L.) on silver birch plants for 21 days. In the second experiment, VOC emissions were measured from three provenances (Loppi (60 ° N), Vehmersalmi (62 ° N) and Kittilä (67 ° N)) of silver birch at two common garden sites (Joensuu (62 ° N) and Kolari (67 ° N)) in Finland. The plants were growing in the field for approximately two years before the VOC sampling. In the third experiment carried out with European aspen, plants were exposed to a single and combined warming (ambient + 2°C) and enhanced UV-B radiation (30.9%) in field conditions. VOC emissions in the field were measured using dynamic head space collection method and analysed by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC MS), whereas the online monitoring was performed by proton transfer time-of-flight mass spectrometry (PTR-TOF-MS).

Short-term herbivory led to a rapid induction of green leaf volatiles (GLVs) and a steady increase in terpenoid emission during the feeding period. The feeding pattern of the larvae roughly matched the VOC emission peaks. Long-term foliage herbivory in the field led to a genotype-dependent, transient increase in the emission rates of monoterpenes (MTs) but the differences in emission due to treatments and genotypic differences declined as the season progressed. There was no clear difference in VOC emission rates as a result of bark damage. VOC emissions differed between experimental sites but provenance translocation along a latitudinal gradient had no significant effect. However, VOC composition was significantly affected by translocation during the second experimental year. In the third experiment, warming increased isoprene emission from European aspen; it also modified VOC emission

responses to UV-radiation. VOC emissions from the rhizospheres of both silver birch and European aspen showed no significant treatment effects.

The results suggest that VOC emission rates of silver birch to foliar herbivory are substantial immediately after herbivore damage and measurements from fresh damages are important to estimate biotic stress-induced VOC emission rates. The lack of clear provenance translocation effect on VOC emission responses of silver birch suggests that this species might be rather tolerant to environmental changes in the short-term. However, emission differences between sites indicate that abiotic condition especially cumulative temperature plays a role. Increased emission from European aspen as a result of combined warming and UV-B radiation suggests that abiotic stresses have significant interactive effects on VOC emission from deciduous trees and may further affect atmospheric chemistry.

Universal Decimal Classification: 504.3, 504.7, 57.045, 57.047, 581.135.5, 582.632.1, 582.681.81

CAB Thesaurus: volatile compounds; organic compounds; isoprenoids; terpenoids; emissions; *Betula pendula; Populus tremula*; environmental factors; stress; herbivory; translocation; provenance; latitude; environmental temperature; ultraviolet radiation; rhizosphere; climate change; global warming

Yleinen suomalainen asiasanasto: haihtuvat orgaaniset yhdisteet; päästöt; koivu; haapa; ympäristötekijät; ympäristökuormitus; kasvinsyöjät; siirto; leveyspiirit; lämpötila; lämpeneminen; ultraviolettisäteily; juuristo; ilmastonmuutokset

# Acknowledgements

This study was conducted in the Department of Environmental Science at the University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio campus. I wish to acknowledge the Department of Environmental Science for providing facilities and financial support to conduct the research. Science is a collaborative endeavour and I could not have completed my study without the involvement and encouragement of many people.

My deepest gratitude goes to my main supervisor, prof. Jarmo Holopainen, who gave me the opportunity to pursue my MSC and PhD studies, and introduced me to the world of plant volatiles. He has been in the heart of planning and execution of experiments, including sitting behind the wheels for hours during long trips to Kolari experimental site in Lapland.

I would like to acknowledge prof. Toini Holopainen, second supervisor, for her significant involvement in the planning of all the experiments. She was so meticulous in her constructive comments during writing and publication processes of all manuscripts, and preparation of summary of the thesis. Her support and encouragement were so valuable.

Dr. Anne Kasurinen was my third supervisor, and has been involved in most of the research planning, execution and preparation of the manuscripts. She was my immediate refuge whenever I had trouble in statistical analyses, and provided vital help on technical issues. I would like to express my special thanks to her and her large store of statistical knowledge is greatly appreciated. I have learnt a lot from her during my time as MSc and PhD student.

I cannot let this opportunity pass without acknowledging all the co-authors and the staff in the Department of Environmental Science, who have played significant role in successful completion of my study. Most of all, I would like to acknowledge Timo Oksanen for maintaining the equipment used for sampling volatile organic compounds in the field. Special thanks to Jaana Rissanen for her assistance in driving me to the experimental sites, assisting in volatile sampling and preparation of the standards. I would like to thank Prof. Riitta Julkunen-Tiitto and Prof. Elina Oksanen for allowing me to work on the experimental sites where VOC measurements were carried out.

I wish to thank Dr. James Blande for his insights and expertise during the publication process of the manuscripts and Dr. Tao Li for his skilful assistance in dealing with technical problems regarding gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. I am grateful to Minna Kivimäenpää for her advice on issues related to chromatograms. Many thanks to Aarne Lehikoinen; he was great during the field campaigns.

All my friends and family who have given me constant support and encouragement are greatly appreciated.

Mengistu Mengesha

Kuopio, December 2015

"It is paradoxical, yet true, to say, that the more we know, the more ignorant we become in the absolute sense, for it is only through enlightenment that we become conscious of our limitations. Precisely one of the most gratifying results of intellectual evolution is the continuous opening up of new and greater prospects."

Nicola Tesla, September 9, 1915

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| ATP             | Adinosine triphosphate                      |
|-----------------|---|
| CFC             | Chlorofluorocarbon                          |
| CH <sub>4</sub> | Methane                                     |
| CO <sub>2</sub> | Carbon dioxide                              |
| DMAPP           | Dimethylallyl pyrophosphate                 |
| DMNT            | (E)-4,8-Dimethyl-1,3,7-nonatriene           |
| DNA             | Deoxyribonucleic acid                       |
| FDP             | Farnesyl diphosphate                        |
| GAP             | Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate                  |
| GC MS           | Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry        |
| GPP             | Geranyl pyrophosphate                       |
| GLVs            | Green leaf volatiles                        |
| IPCC            | Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change   |
| IPP             | Isopentenyl pyrophosphate                   |
| LOX             | Lipoxygenase                                |
| MEP             | Methyl-erythritol phosphate pathway         |
| MT              | Monoterpene                                 |
| MVA             | Mevalonic acid pathway                      |
| NADPH           | Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate |
| NOx             | Nitrogen oxide radicals                     |
| NO <sub>2</sub> | Nitrogen dioxide                            |
| O <sub>3</sub>  | Ozone                                       |

| PAR        | Photosynthetically active radiation              |
|------------|--|
| PC         | Principal component                              |
| PET        | Polyethylene terephthalate                       |
| PPFD       | Photosynthetic photon flux density               |
| PTR-TOF-MS | Proton transfer time of flight mass spectrometry |
| RNA        | Ribonucleic acid                                 |
| SE         | Standard error                                   |
| SOA        | Secondary organic aerosol                        |
| SQT        | Sesquiterpene                                    |
| Tg         | Tera gram  |
| ROS        | Reactive oxygen species                          |
| UV         | Ultraviolet                                      |
| UV-A       | Ultraviolet A radiation (320-400 nm)             |
| UV-B       | Ultraviolet B radiation (280-320 nm)             |
| UV-C       | Ultraviolet C radiation (100-280 nm)             |
| VOC        | Volatile organic compound                        |

### LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATION

This thesis is based on data presented in the following three articles, referred to in the text by their chapter numbers 2-4

- Chapter 2 Maja MM, Kasurinen A, Yli-Pirilä P, Joutsensaari J, Klemola T, Holopainen T, Holopainen JK. Contrasting responses of silver birch VOC emissions to short- and long-term herbivory. Tree Physiology 34: 241–252, 2014.
- Chapter 3 Maja MM, Kasurinen A, Holopainen T, Kontunen-Soppela S, Oksanen E, Holopainen JK. Volatile organic compounds emitted from silver birch of different provenances across a latitudinal gradient in Finland. Tree Physiology 35: 975–986.
- Chapter 4. Maja MM, Kasurinen A, Holopainen T, Julkunen-Tiitto R, Holopainen JK (2015) The effect of warming and enhanced ultraviolet radiation on gender-specific emissions of volatile organic compounds from European aspen (*Populus tremula L.*) (Submitted manuscript)

The publications are reprinted with kind permission from publisher: Oxford University Press (2) and (3)

### AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION

Mengistu M. Maja contributed to the field work, data analyses and was the first author in all the papers (chapters 2-4). Mengistu M. Maja also participated in planning of herbivory experiment (chapter 2) and assessments of VOC emission as a result of changes in environmental conditions following translocation of provenances of silver birch along a latitudinal gradient (chapter 3), and also warming and UV-B radiation exposure on European aspen (chapter 4). VOC sampling rounds were performed in collaboration with supervisors and with research teams led by Prof. Elina Oksanen (chapter 3) and by Prof. Riitta Julkunen-Tiitto (chapter 4). In the first paper (chapter 2) Pasi Yli-Pirilä contributed to PTR-TOF-MS VOC sampling at laboratory and performed data analysis, and Tero Klemola provided eggs of insects used to infest the plants in the first experiment.

# Contents

| 1 Ge         | eneral introduction  | .17  |
|--------------|--|------|
| 1.1          | BACKGROUND   | . 17 |
| 1.2          | WARMING-RELATED CHANGES IN BOREAL FORESTS  | . 19 |
| 1.3          | EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON INSECTS   | . 20 |
| 1.4          | VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS EMITTED BY PLANTS   | . 21 |
| 1.4.1        | . Isoprenoids (isoprene, mono- and sesquiterpenes)                                       | . 21 |
| 1.4.2        | 2. Green leaf volatiles and other compounds  | .24  |
| 1.5          | MAJOR ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS THAT AFFECT VOC EMISSIONS                                    | . 25 |
| 1.5.1        | Abiotic factors  | .25  |
| 1.5.2        | 2 Biotic factors   | .27  |
| 1.6          | SILVER BIRCH AND EUROPEAN ASPEN ARE ECOLOGICALLY AND ECONOMICALLY IMPORTANT TREE SPECIES | . 29 |
| 1.7          | OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH   | . 30 |
| 1.8          | SUMMARY OF THE EXPERIMENTS   | . 31 |
| 1.9          | DESCRIPTION OF THE VOC MEASUREMENTS AND ANALYSIS   | . 17 |
| 2 Co<br>term | ontrasting responses of silver birch VOC emissions to short- and long-<br>n herbivory    | . 37 |
| 3 Vo         | platile organic compounds emitted from silver birch of different                         | 51   |
| prov         |  | .51  |
| 4 Th         | e effect of combined enhancements of warming and ultraviolet                             |      |
| radi<br>aspe | ation on the emission of volatile organic compounds from European                        | .65  |
| F Co         | noral Disgussion   | 102  |
| 3 Ge         |  | 105  |
| 5.1          | SHORT- AND LONG-TERM HERBIVORY INDUCED VOC EMISSIONS FROM                                |      |
|              | SILVER BIRCH   | 103  |
| 5.1.1        | Short-term foliar herbivory caused burst of green leaf volatiles (GLVs)                  | 103  |

| 5.1.2 | 2 Long-term foliar herbivory induced VOC emission   | 104 |
|-------|---|-----|
| 5.1.3 | 3 No systemic effect of bark herbivory on VOC emission  | 105 |
| 5.2   | VOC EMISSION RESPONSES OF SILVER BIRCH TO PROVENANCE<br>TRANSLOCATION ACROSS A LATITUDINAL GRADIENT | 106 |
| 5.3   | COMBINED ENHANCEMENT OF UV-RADIATION AND TEMPERATURE ALTERS VOC EMISSIONS FROM EUROPEAN ASPEN       | 108 |
| 5.4   | RHIZOSPHERE EMISSIONS   | 110 |
| 5.5   | LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY  | 110 |
| 5.6   | CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS  | 111 |
| 6 Re  | ferences  | 113 |

## **1** General introduction

### 1.1 BACKGROUND

It is widely accepted that global climate change manifested primarily by changes in surface air temperature is the greatest environmental threat of all ecosystems. In the last 100 years, global surface air temperature has shown rapid increase as a result of imbalance of incoming and outgoing radiation (IPCC, 2014). According to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the global average surface air temperature is forecasted to increase by 1.4-5.8°C over the period of 1990 to 2100 (IPCC, 2001). There is a consensus that at least part of the rise in temperature is attributable to greenhouse gas emissions from anthropogenic sources (Barnett et al., 2005; IPCC, 2014). Water vapour, carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), ozone (O<sub>3</sub>), nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) and chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) compounds are the main greenhouse gases that contribute to the rise in surface temperature. The emission of these gases is facilitated by human activities such as fossil fuel burning, land use change, and agricultural and industrial activities. As a result of the rapid increase in their concentration, the global average temperature is approaching a level of 2°C above pre-industrial levels, which is considered a threshold for irreversible change in the biosphere (Meinshausen et al., 2009; IPCC, 2014).

Some of the greenhouses gases associated with climate warming impact the concentration of stratospheric O<sub>3</sub>, which filters harmful UV-B radiation. Although the role of chloro- and bromocarbons in depleting stratospheric O<sub>3</sub> is declining due to Montreal protocol (McKenzie et al., 2011), springtime ozone depletion will continue to increase for many decades at polar latitudes (Manney et al., 2011). Furthermore, increasing concentration of replacements of O<sub>3</sub> depleting substances and other trace gases such as nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) continue to degrade stratospheric O<sub>3</sub> (Ravishankara et al., 2009; Stolarski et al., 2015) leading to increased UV-B radiation in some areas and simultaneously changing seasonal weather pattern (Bornman et al., 2015). UV-B radiation can independently interfere with the cellular function injuring deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), ribonucleic acid (RNA) and membranes (Jansen et al., 1998). UV-radiation and seasonal variations in other abiotic and biotic factors may have interactive effects on plant metabolism (Bornman et al., 2015).

Forest ecosystems across various latitudes have shown changes, notably the composition, structure and functional processes are affected by climatic factors (Dale et al., 2001; Kellomäki et al., 2001), but these changes are more consequential at high latitudes compared to low latitude ecosystems (Serreze et al., 2000; Parmesan and Yohe, 2003). Climate warming coupled with continuous CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment of the air is expected to increase carbon sequestration (Nemani et al., 2003) and thus enhance tree and forest growth in areas where soil nutrients are not a limiting factor (Oren et al., 2001). Climate warming also enhances expansion of vegetation zones and treeline further north and upslope making new habitats for other organisms (IPCC, 2014). On the other hand, treeline expansion reduces surface albedo (Beringer et al., 2005) which further enhances warming of the lower atmosphere. Warmer temperature and northward expansion of host species provide favourable conditions for herbivorous insect species that can cause extensive damage to forest trees (Jepsen et al., 2008).

Herbivorous insects are subject to both direct and indirect effects of climate warming (Bale et al., 2002; Deutsch et al., 2008). Climate warming can directly increase overwintering survival, advance generation time and enhance growth of insects (Ayres and Lombardero, 2000; Volney and Fleming, 2000). It can also have indirect effect through changes in phenological synchrony between host plant and herbivorous insects (Stange and Ayres, 2010; Pureswaran et al., 2014) and through regulation of the abundance of insect population by enhancing the performance of the natural enemies of insects (Ayres and Lombardero, 2000; Parmesan and Yohe, 2003; Delava et al., 2014). Temperature-mediated changes in community composition and species dynamics increase frequency of insect outbreaks and cause extensive defoliation in boreal forests (Jepsen et al., 2008).

Climate change factors lead to a wide range of responses in plants, including structural, physiological as well as phenological changes (Root et al., 2003). They also activate various defence strategies in plants (Atkinson and Urwin, 2012). For example, the responses of plants to climate change factors and herbivory involve production and emission of chemical compounds. Environmental stresses induce the emission of various volatile organic compounds (VOCs) (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999), which are organic compounds with low boiling point and high vapour pressure at normal conditions (Dudareva et al., 2006). Plant VOCs are used in defence against herbivorous insects and relieve stress caused by abiotic factors. They also play roles in multitrophic communication between plants, herbivorous insects, predators and parasitoids (Holopainen, 2004) and are involved in biosphere-atmosphere-climate feedback system (Laothawornkitkul et al., 2009; Ehn et al., 2014). At global scale, VOCs are emitted in

large quantities with vegetation contributing the major share (Guenther et al., 2000). The large scale of emission, multitrophic communication in the ecosystem and their involvement in the atmospheric chemistry as a result of their reactive property makes plant VOCs important to the physical and chemical properties of the atmosphere (Fineschi et al., 2013). In order to understand the effects of environmental stresses on VOC emissions and the resultant effects on atmospheric chemistry and air quality, there is urgent need to investigate the VOC emission responses of climate change sensitive deciduous trees.

This thesis discusses the changes in VOC emission responses of deciduous trees (silver birch and European aspen), with particular emphasis on insect herbivory, warming, and enhanced UV-radiation. It also reports on how translocation of different provenances of silver birch to experimental sites located at different latitudes in Finland, that differ in both biotic and abiotic factors, affects VOC emissions from different provenances. Since most environmental stresses change simultaneously, the effects of these factors on plant metabolism may add up or neutralize each other. Therefore, this thesis also explores the effect of abiotic factors (UV-radiation and warming) singly and in combination on the quality and quantity of VOCs emitted from European aspen. Moreover, it addresses sex-specific differences in VOC emission from different genotypes of European aspen in response to warming and enhanced UV-B radiation. To my knowledge, no previous studies have investigated single or combined effects of warming and UV-B radiation on VOC emissions from European aspen.

### 1.2 WARMING-RELATED CHANGES IN BOREAL FORESTS

The boreal forests, being the largest terrestrial biome, account for large proportion of primary or unmanaged forests of the world and contribute to climate system by keeping significant amount of carbon in the vegetation and soil under the canopy (Bonan, 2008; Olsson, 2009). Recent climate projections indicate that warming will be greatest in the northern boreal region with an expected increase of about 4-5°C at the end of this century (IPCC, 2014). As a result, boreal forest ecosystems are likely to be strongly influenced by climate change (Kellomäki et al., 2001). Some of the changes include enhanced tree growth as a result of increased CO<sub>2</sub> availability and longer growing season leading to gradual expansion of treeline (Kellomäki et al., 2008; Ruckstuhl et al., 2008). Climate warming also alters species composition as evergreen trees are gradually replaced by deciduous trees leading to continuous transformation of boreal ecosystems (Chen et al., 2011; Koven, 2013; Kellomäki et al., 2008). For instance,

the proportion of silver birch is increasing while coniferous species are declining in the Scandinavian region (Kellomäki et al., 2001; Engelkes et al., 2008; Elmhagen et al., 2015).

There is now ample evidence that plants are showing climate warming-induced phenological shifts (Sparks and Menzel, 2002; Walther et al., 2002; Parmesan, 2007). Most spring phenological events of boreal forests (e.g., bud break, leaf maturation, and flowering) take place earlier (Visser and Both, 2005; Menzel et al., 2006). In the last few decades, the beginning of growing seasons across Europe has advanced by eight days (Chmielewski and Rötzer, 2002) leading to an expected increase of growing season by 3-4 days per decade (Peñuelas et al., 2009). Faster plant development and longer growing season coupled with increased precipitation and CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment enhance plant biomass (Chmielewski and Rötzer, 2001; Boisvenue and Running, 2006). Chemical composition of plants may also change due to enrichment of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, which has the potential to change carbon to nitrogen ratios in plant tissues (Kostiainen et al., 2006) and can affect the amount of foliage consumed by herbivorous insects (Hunter, 2001).

### 1.3 EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON INSECTS

Insects occupy a wide range of terrestrial and aquatic habitats and play a major role in the succession, functioning and carbon cycling in ecosystems (Ayres and Lombardero, 2000). Since insects are ectotherms, their physiology, development and biogeographical distribution are highly sensitive to climate change (Carroll et al., 2003; Stange and Ayres, 2010). In the last century alone, an average of 120 km northward displacement of climatic isotherm was reported over Europe (Beniston and Tol, 1998), which caused considerable impact on metabolic processes of insects. For example, approximately 10°C rise in temperature can roughly double metabolic rates of insects (Clarke and Fraser, 2004). Faster metabolism enhances growth and reproduction leading to shorter generation, which in turn increases density of insects (Deutsch et al., 2008). Besides creating more benign thermal environment in areas previously limited by low temperature, climate warming enhances dispersal abilities of insects (Travis et al., 2013) contributing to the range expansion of Lepidopterans in Europe (Parmesan et al., 1999; Hill et al., 2002; Saarinen et al., 2003). A survey of 35 non-migratory European butterflies with known boundaries has indicated that approximately 63% have expanded northwards (35-240 km) (Parmesan et al., 1999). Some geometrid moth

species including winter (*Operophtera brumata* L) and autumnal (*Epirrita autumnata* Borkh) moths have increased their distribution range northwards in recent years in Scandinavia (Jepsen et al., 2008; Ammunét et al., 2012). Battisti et al (2006) have reported an upslope expansion of approximately 99m in altitudinal range for pine processionary moth (*Thaumetopoea pityocampa* Denis and Schiffermüller) in a 30-year period. The projections for 21<sup>st</sup> century are more alarming as a 2°C rise in temperature in the northern latitudes might move the current climate conditions by 600 km northward and 330m upslope (IPCC, 2001). This shift in bioclimatic envelopes may cause convergence of insects and increased outbreak in some parts of Scandinavian countries especially in birch forests (Tenow et al., 1999; Ruohomäki et al., 2000; Neuvonen et al., 2005).

### 1.4 VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS EMITTED BY PLANTS

Plants produce over 100,000 chemical products, of which, over 1,700 are known to be volatile (Dicke and Loreto, 2010). Isoprenoids (isoprene, tepenes) are the largest group of these VOCs and their production and functions are well researched (Dudareva et al., 2006). In 1960, the global terpene emission rate from vegetation was estimated to be 175 Tg C year<sup>-1</sup> (1Tg=10<sup>12</sup>g) (Went 1960), but this underestimation has been rectified through advancement in measurement techniques and better map of global vegetation. Current estimation of the mean annual emission of biogenic VOCs including methane stands around 760 Tg C (Sindelarova et al., 2014). The emission rate of VOCs costs plants up to 10% of fixed carbon and accounts for 80% of reactive VOCs added to the atmosphere (Peñuelas and Llusià, 2003). Plant VOCs are emitted from almost all plant parts including branches and leaves (Loreto and Schnitzler, 2010), roots (Steeghs et al., 2004), flowers (Knudsen et al., 1993) and fruits (Dudareva and Pichersky, 2008). Physiological and physicochemical factors as well as other external constraints can alter the quality and quantity of plant VOCs (Paré and Tumlinson, 1999; Niinemets, 2010b; Schaub et al., 2010).

### 1.4.1. Isoprenoids (isoprene, Inono-Ind Besquiterpenes)

Isoprenoids represented mainly by isoprene (C<sub>5</sub>), monoterpenes (C<sub>10</sub>) and sesquiterpenes (C<sub>15</sub>) are the largest and most diverse class of plant volatiles (Dudareva et al., 2013) derived from five carbon precursors isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) and its isomer dimethylalyl pyrophosphate (DMAPP) (McGarvey and Croteau, 1995). They are

synthesized through the mevalonic acid (MVA) and methyl-erythritol phosphate (MEP) pathways (Rodríguez-Concepción et al., 2004). The two pathways are almost independent but recent studies have revealed that there is some interaction through metabolic cross-talk at IPP level (Laule et al., 2003). The MVA pathway takes place in cytoplasm while the MEP pathway is operational in chloroplasts (Figure 1) (Owen and Peñuelas, 2005). Isoprenoids are synthesized constitutively or induced by environmental stresses and released immediately after synthesis or stored in some special storage organs (resin ducts, glandular trichomes on the leaf surface, glands in leaf tissues) (Fineschi et al., 2013).



Figure 1. A simple diagram of the MVA and MEP pathways through which isoprenoids are synthesized (modified from Li and Sharkey, 2013)

Isoprene (2-methyl-1, 3-butadiene) is the most abundant hydrocarbon compound emitted mainly from perennial plant species in terrestrial ecosystems (Fineschi et al., 2013). Only 30% of extant plant species today emit isoprene, which might be due to evolution of isoprene emission capability under various environmental conditions (Harley et al., 1996). Globally, isoprene accounts for 44% of the total biogenic VOC emission with an estimated emission rate of about 500 to 700 Tg C year<sup>-1</sup> (Guenther et al., 1995; Guenther et al., 2006). It is synthesized in chloroplasts via the MEP pathway and emitted immediately after synthesis in a light- and temperature-dependent manner (Guenther et al., 1993). As a result of its high reactivity and very short life time in atmosphere, isoprene influences atmospheric chemistry through the formation of secondary organic aerosols (SOA) (Atkinson and Arey, 2003).

Isoprene has multiple functions to plants, particularly in stressful conditions as it strengthens thylakoid membranes and scavenges reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (Sharkey et al., 2008). Recent studies have shown that isoprene also provides protection against insect herbivores because of its repellent nature to herbivorous insects (Laothawornkitkul et al., 2008a; Loivamäki et al., 2008). Isoprene emission rates are affected by climate warming-related environmental factors such as high temperature, increased CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and drought conditions (Pegoraro et al., 2004; Niinemets, 2010a; Calfapietra et al., 2013).

Monoterpenes (MTs) are an important class of plant volatiles with an estimated annual emission rate of about 85 Tg C year<sup>-1</sup> (Sindelarova et al., 2014). They are synthesized through the MEP pathway in chloroplasts from head-to-head combination of geranyl pyrophosphate (GPP) and IPP (Dudareva et al., 2013). After biosynthesis, MTs are stored in specialized storage organs in terpene storing plants and are emitted later following stress or developmental changes, whereas in non-storing species they are emitted immediately after synthesis (Li and Sharkey, 2013). The biosynthesis and emission of MTs are controlled by a wide range of environmental conditions (Trowbridge et al., 2014) which is discussed in the coming sections. MTs are emitted from different parts of plants and involved in direct and indirect defence against biotic and abiotic stresses. As they represent the majority of reactive VOCs emitted into the atmosphere, they play an important role in the formation of SOA. Plant VOCs most often related to environmental stresses and their molecular structures are shown in figure 2.

Sesquiterpenes (SQTs) are structurally diverse, semi-volatiles hydrocarbons synthesized through the MVA pathway in cytosol by condensation of farnesyl diphosphate (FDP) and IPP facilitated by FDP synthase (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999). They account for a small portion of the volatile carbon released into the atmosphere due to their semi-volatile nature and high reactivity in the atmosphere (Li and Sharkey, 2013). However, their highly reactive nature makes them relevant in the atmosphere as their photo-oxidation leads to the formation of aerosols which in turn generate more cloud condensation nuclei (Bonn and Moortgat, 2003; Kulmala et al., 2004). SQTs are emitted constitutively mainly from flowers; but they are also emitted from foliage during and after herbivore and pathogen attack (Loreto and Schnitzler, 2010). Their emission rate shows seasonal and diurnal variability (Hakola et al., 2006), which suggests dependence on temperature, light and other abiotic factors (Duhl et al., 2008) and also on changes in physiology of plants. SQTs play an important role in multitrophic interactions involving plants, herbivorous insects and parasitoids (Holopainen, 2004).

### 1.4.2. Green leaf volatiles and other compounds

Green leaf volatiles are hydrocarbon compounds synthesized through the lipoxygenase (LOX) pathway, and consist of saturated and unsaturated C6 aldehydes, alcohols, and their esters produced by oxidative breakdown of membrane lipids (Paré and Tumlinson, 1999). GLVs have distinctive "cut grass scent" (Schaub et al., 2010) and are emitted in large quantities during or immediately after herbivore damage and/or mechanical wounding to plant tissues (Brilli et al., 2012). Some GLVs just leak out from cell walls of a rapidly expanding leaves and decomposing cell walls in senescing leaves with no specific purpose (Trowbridge and Stoy, 2013). GLVs can be emitted as a result of abiotic environmental stresses such as severe drought stress that can damage the cell wall and cell membrane (Capitani et al., 2009), and anoxic conditions caused by flooding (Copolovici and Niinemets, 2010). Acute ozone exposure induces the emission of several GLVs (Heiden et al., 1999), but ozone also degrades GLVs in the atmosphere (Pinto et al., 2007). GLVs serve as important signalling molecules to the surrounding conspecifics or natural enemies of herbivorous insects. In addition to isoprenoids and GLVs, aromatic products of the shikimate pathway such as methyl salicylates and methyl chavicol are also released from plants in response to aphid infestation (Blande et al., 2010) or ozone exposure (Heiden et al., 1999). The quantity of methyl salicylate and other VOCs tends to correlate with the severity of biotic and abiotic stresses (Beauchamp et al. 2005; Karl et al., 2008; Copolovici et al., 2011). In addition to GLVs,

plant tissue-damage is associated with products of octadecanoid pathway (Kessler and Baldwin 2002). This pathway produces phytohormone jasmonic acid, which is responsible for induction of defence genes.



Figure 2. Molecular structures of the most common VOCs emitted from plants used in this study.

### 1.5 MAJOR ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS THAT AFFECT VOC EMISSIONS

### 1.5.1. Abiotic factors

Abiotic stresses such as high temperature (Singsaas et al., 1997), drought (Capitani et al., 2009), air pollution (Pinto et al., 2007) and flooding (Copolovici and Niinemets, 2010) create suboptimal conditions for plants thus affecting the rate of primary metabolism which in turn influences the synthesis and emission of plant VOCs. Moreover, some of these factors have been shown to enhance the production of harmful molecules inside plant tissues that impact metabolic pathways producing VOCs (Vickers et al., 2009). Most abiotic stresses are predicted to further increase in frequency

and intensity as a result of anthropogenic contributions (IPCC, 2014), thus plants are likely to be exposed to more stressful environments in the future.

Increasing temperature can induce biosynthesis of plant VOCs through its control on plant physiology (Niinemets et al., 2004). Enzymes that regulate the rate of primary metabolism, especially respiration, which supplies intermediates for VOC biosynthesis, are affected by changes in temperature (Niinemets et al., 2004). These enzymes show temperature dependence up to 40-45°C (Sharkey, 2005). However, such high temperature can be harmful to sustain other processes necessary for the synthesis of substrates of VOCs (Singsaas and Sharkey, 2000). Increases in temperature also affect the physicochemical characteristics of individual compounds such as volatility and diffusion (Niinemets et al., 2004; Harley, 2013). Diffusion in particular leads to more partitioning of the VOCs to gaseous phase leading to higher VOC emission from plants (Possell and Loreto, 2013). Studies at controlled conditions have shown that high temperature induces the emission of isoprene, (E)-4,8-Dimethyl-1,3,7-nonatraine (DMNT), SQTs and GLVs from plants (Ibrahim et al., 2010). Some of these compounds may have protective role against reactive oxygen species (ROS) and other oxidizing agents that can cause major damage to photosynthetic apparatus (Peñuelas and Llusià, 2003). Isoprene emitted during high temperatures stabilizes thylakoid membranes from transient heat shocks (Sharkey and Singsaas, 1995) hence maintaining the dynamic properties of the membranes.

Light effects on VOCs are usually attributed to changes in metabolite pool size, and availability of ATPs and NADPH (Li and Sharkey, 2013). Increase in the atmospheric aerosols is likely to increase the fraction of diffuse light (Mercado et al., 2009) which enhances photosynthesis and supply of substrates for biosynthesis of VOCs (Kulmala et al., 2013). Thus, as incident radiation increases, the isoprenoid emission increases due to high supply of energy and substrates (Gray et al., 2005) but that trend depends on other factors such as temperature and availability of water (Fineschi et al., 2013).

UV-radiation is another important abiotic factor which changes significantly as a result of anthropogenic emissions to the atmosphere and influences both plant metabolism (Holopainen, 2011) and VOC emissions (Filella and Peñuelas, 1999). For example, UV-B radiation has the potential to decrease photosynthetic capacity of plants by downregulating genes encoding proteins of photosynthetic apparatus (Hollosy, 2002). On the other hand, UV-B radiation can also induce VOC synthesis by encoding enzymes of the octadecanoid pathway (Izaguirre et al., 2003). Johnson et al (1999) found increased VOC emission response as a result of increased dose of UV-B radiation on sweet basil while higher concentration of some MTs and SQTs was found in peppermint (Dolzhenko et al., 2010). Similarly, Harley et al (1996) found increased emission of isoprene from *Quercus gambelii* and Gil et al (2013) reported higher MT emission from grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Malbeck) as a result of exposure to UV-radiation. Isoprene emission from subarctic fen was also found to increase following exposure to UV-B radiation at a dose of 20% stratospheric ozone depletion (Tiiva et al., 2007). However, some studies found reduction (Ambasht and Agrawal, 1997) or no change (Blande et al., 2009) in the emission of VOCs as a result of exposure to supplemental UV-B radiation. Nonetheless, there are not enough studies for the majority of plant species to clearly see the pattern of the responses of VOC emission to UV-B radiation. In addition, most studies on the effects of UV-radiation focus more on chemical traits other than VOCs, and those studies on VOCs have mainly focused on isoprene emission (Blande et al., 2009). Since plants are exposed to multiple environmental factors, then UV-radiation, warming and other abiotic factors may have interactive effects on VOC emissions.

### 1.5.2. Biotic factors

Plants face constant attack from herbivorous insects, mammalian herbivores and pathogens, which has the potential to influence primary and secondary metabolism. Herbivore damage by insects is of great interest as frequency and intensity of insect outbreaks are increasing in areas that are experiencing climate warming (Jepsen et al., 2008). Although there are temporal and spatial differences, plants lose approximately 7-11% of their tissues per year due to herbivory in various ecosystems (Coley and Barone, 1996). Some studies have suggested that herbivory is higher at low latitude ecosystems than at high latitude ecosystems (Coley and Aide, 1991; Schemske et al., 2009) although others argue against this pattern (e.g., Moles, 2013).

Herbivory profoundly affects VOC emission from a range of plant species as it has genetic and physiological control over VOC emission. Herbivore damage breaks the storage structures and diffusive barriers leading to large release of stored compounds (Monson, 2013). It also stimulates the metabolic pathways of VOCs, and thus induces de novo synthesis of some VOCs (Laothawornkitkul et al., 2008b; Fineschi et al., 2013). VOCs induced by herbivore damage are involved in bottom-up and top-down plant defence (Monson, 2013). In bottom-up defence, herbivore-induced VOCs reduce fitness of insects through direct toxicity or affect host preference through repellence (Kessler and Baldwin, 2001), whereas in top-down defence, these chemicals attract the natural enemies of insect herbivores. Some of these compounds play important roles in multitrophic communication between organisms as they serve as cues to locate host plants by specialist insects and preys by natural enemies of plant defoliating insect species (Holopainen, 2004). The induction of VOCs by herbivorous insects varies depending on plant species, age and developmental stage of plants, damage type and intensity, tissue type being attacked, insect species and feeding mode (Takabayashi et al., 1994; Cardoza and Tumlinson, 2006; Kessler and Halitschke, 2007).

In recent years, many insect species have reached outbreak threshold and caused extensive defoliation of many tree species in temperate regions. With the expected rise in temperature, herbivore damage of trees in boreal regions is expected to increase in the coming decades. This is primarily because insects are expanding their geographical range northwards due to more favourable thermal conditions in previously cold temperate regions and colonize new habitats (Jepsen et al., 2011; Ammunét et al., 2012). In addition, climate warming-induced abiotic stresses such as drought and high temperature episodes increase the susceptibility of the host plants to herbivore pressure (Adams and Zhang, 2009; Klapwijk et al., 2013). For instance, an outbreak of geometrid moth species defoliated large swath of birch forest in northern Finland (Ayres and Lombardero, 2000; Dale et al., 2001). This type of defoliation is likely to induce large emission of VOCs with potential effect on the atmospheric chemistry (Joutsensaari et al., 2015).

The independent effects of climatic factors can enhance, reduce or have no effect on plant growth, development and defence, but they can also have additive or opposing effects when they occur simultaneously. The combined effects of multiple environmental stresses on VOC emission are not adequately assessed although it has been suggested as an area of research that needs further attention (Holopainen and Gershenzon, 2010). Copolovici et al (2014) showed that the combination of herbivory and drought induces higher emission of (E)- $\beta$ -ocimene and DMNT from *Alnus glutinosa* (L.) Gaertn. Similarly, spider mite infestation and acute ozone-exposure induced the emission of DMNT and cis-3-hexenyl acetate from lima bean (*Phaseolus lunatus* L.) (Vuorinen et al., 2004). In contrast, others found no significant effect of combined stress of herbivory and ozone exposure on the VOC emission from hybrid aspen (e.g. Blande et al., 2007). The likelihood of warming and UV-B radiation concurrently challenging deciduous trees at high latitudes is high, but their combined effect on VOC emission response has not yet been investigated.

In addition to aboveground effects, both biotic and abiotic factors can enhance the emission of VOCs from the rhizospheres of deciduous trees. Many studies have shown that plants release great amount of photosynthetically fixed carbon to the rhizosphere for various reasons (Wenke et al., 2010). Several compounds including MTs, GLVs and light carbon compounds are released into the soil and play defensive and communication roles in the rhizosphere (Lin et al., 2007; Wenke et al., 2010). The effects of aboveground stresses on the VOC emission responses from rhizospheres have received less attention so in this study we examined the effects of aboveground herbivory and abiotic stresses on VOC emission from the rhizospheres of silver birch and European aspen.

### 1.6 SILVER BIRCH AND EUROPEAN ASPEN ARE ECOLOGICALLY AND ECONOMICALLY IMPORTANT TREE SPECIES

Silver birch is an important deciduous tree species in the Northern Hemisphere with multiple ecological and economic roles. It is a pioneer species that serves as a raw material for pulp and paper industries and hosts several species to sustain biodiversity. Recent studies have revealed that both basal area and wood production of silver birch in boreal region are increasing as a result of increasing temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the atmosphere (Briceño-Elizondo et al., 2006; Kellomäki et al., 2008). However, silver birch is susceptible to changes in both biotic and abiotic environmental stresses which are exacerbated by climate warming (Oksanen et al., 2007; Ibrahim et al., 2010). Herbivore pressure and warming are among the factors that are increasing in magnitude and frequency and threaten performance of silver birch and other deciduous trees in boreal regions. Furthermore, the change in the length of growing season can interfere with the function of the internal clock of this species.

Silver birch has large genotypic diversity and phenotypic plasticity which could play an important role in its resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses (Silfver et al., 2009). In the face of cyclic outbreaks of some geometrid moth species, the genetic diversity could contribute to enhance resistance or tolerance against herbivory (Neuvonen et al., 2005). The large genotypic variation means that different provenances adapted to their respective locality might vary in their VOC emission potential and thus respond differentially to environmental stresses. Silver birch emits a wide diversity of VOCs in its natural environment (Hakola et al., 1998) and in larger quantities following damage to tissues or due to abiotic stresses (Vuorinen et al., 2007; Ibrahim et al., 2010). In

addition to geometrid moth species, polyphagous pine weevil (*Hylobius abietis* L.) could damage this species and may induce systemic emission of VOCs.

European aspen, which grows in mixed stands with spruce, pine and birches, is a widespread deciduous tree species in most parts of Eurasia (Worrel, 1995). Aspen is an ecologically important keystone species in boreal forests where it supports wide range of species including some critically endangered species (Kouki et al., 2004). It also plays a role in balancing the soil pH of boreal forest with its high calcium content in the foliage (Suominen et al., 2003). This species is also used for phytoremediation purpose as it can remove heavy metals such as cadmium and zinc from polluted habitats (Hassinen et al., 2009). It contributes economically mainly through its use in pulp and paper industry and making of plywood. Aspen is a prominent isoprene emitter; it also emits significant quantities of MTs such as  $\alpha$ -pinene and carene (Hakola et al. 1998) and GLVs (Fall et al., 1999). Exposure to high temperature, herbivory and high ozone concentration showed greater emission of these compounds from aspen (*Populus* spp.) (Hartikainen et al., 2009; Blande et al., 2007).

### 1.7 OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH

Silver birch is expected to suffer from more intense herbivory as a result of frequent insect outbreaks in the future (Ammunét et al., 2012; Kozlov et al., 2015). This tree species is known to emit wide range of terpenes in nature (Hakola et al., 1998) and also as a result of biotic (Vuorinen et al., 2007) and abiotic stresses (Ibrahim et al., 2010). However, there are only a few studies on herbivore-induced VOC emission from different provenances in field conditions. Moreover, no studies have used online monitoring to examine the timing and pattern of VOC emission from silver birch while larvae were feeding on the foliage. Climate change factors are likely to affect plant performance thus altering also VOC emissions. But it is not known how silver birch, a species with large genetic diversity, will respond to the changes in terms of VOC emission. Plants are also challenged by multiple environmental factors and their reactions are vital for their survival. How simultaneously appearing abiotic stresses, like warming and UV-radiation, impact the VOC emission from European aspen has not been investigated.

The main aim of this thesis was to assess the VOC emission responses of deciduous trees to biotic and abiotic environmental stresses. More specifically, the aim was to assess the effect of short- and long-term herbivore damage caused by larvae of two

geometrid moth species on the emission rates and VOC blend from shoots and the rhizospheres of different genotypes silver birch. This will provide information about the quality and quantity of VOCs emitted from different provenances/genotypes of silver birch in the field and laboratory conditions to aforementioned stresses. The thesis also aims to assess the changes in VOC emission from shoots and rhizospheres of different provenances of silver birch in response to changes in abiotic and biotic following translocation of the provenances across a latitudinal gradient of seven degrees in Finland. Moreover, this thesis explores the VOC emission responses of European aspen to combined effects of warming and UV-radiation in the field condition. The thesis was based on three experiments summarized in Table 1. The main questions addressed in this thesis are:

- 1) Does insect herbivory alter VOC emission response of silver birch? (chapter 2)
- 2) What happens to the VOC emission responses when different provenances of silver birch are translocated across a latitudinal gradient? (chapter 3)
- 3) Does combined enhancement of temperature and UV-B radiation affect VOC emission of European aspen? (chapter 4)

### 1.8 SUMMARY OF THE EXPERIMENTS

This thesis is comprised of three experiments on VOC emission response of deciduous trees to environmental stress (Table 1). The first two were conducted on silver birch and the last one was performed on European aspen. In the first experiment (chapter 2), silver birch plants (two micropropagated clones and one seed origin) were infested with larvae of two geometrid moth species (Agriopis aurantiaria Clerck and Erannis defoliaria Hübner) at field condition in the research garden of the University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio. Side branches were enclosed in two separate mesh bags, each containing two larvae and the bags were tied to the base of the branches. Herbivory lasted for approximately 30 days during the summers of 2011 and 2012 and VOC measurements from shoot were carried out once in 2011 and three times in 2012. Besides foliage herbivory, a bark damage experiment was set up in the same field using two adult pine weevils (H. abietis) on plants not used for the moth herbivory experiment. The bark feeding lasted for 21 days and VOCs were sampled twice during the feeding period from the shoots. The VOC emissions from the rhizospheres were also sampled for both foliage and bark herbivory during 2011 and 2012. The VOCs from the rhizosphere were sampled by enclosing the whole root system inside the PET bags.

In addition to field measurements, VOC emission was monitored online for 48 hours while larvae were feeding on a Hausjärvi provenance trees at laboratory condition in 2012.

In the second experiment (chapter 3), six different provenances of silver birch were micropropagated and transferred to experimental sites established in Tuusula (southern site), Joensuu (central site) and Kolari (northern site) across a latitudinal gradient (north-south) of seven degrees in Finland. The VOC measurement study was part of a broader study that was designed to assess acclimation of silver birch to climate change across a latitudinal gradient in Finland (Heimonen et al., 2015). For VOC assessment, three provenances representing the southern (Loppi), central (Vehmersalmi) and northern (Kiitilä) population were selected. There were three to six genotypes for each provenance at each site but VOC assessment was limited to three genotypes from each provenance. In order to examine the effect of variation in abiotic factors and levels of herbivory on VOC emission, VOC samples were collected from shoots and rhizospheres of selected saplings at both central and northern sites in the summers of 2012 and 2013. Moreover, level of natural herbivore damage on the branches enclosed in PET bags was monitored during VOC measurements.

The last experiment (chapter 4), was carried out at an experimental site located in the Botanical Garden of Joensuu, Finland. The site was established to study the effect of multiple environmental change factors on evolution of sexually dimorphic species (Randriamanana et al., 2014, 2015) and the VOC assessment study was a part of it. Branches of aspen plants collected from different locations in southern and eastern Finland were micropropagated and the plantlets were transferred to the experimental site in 2012. The plantlets were planted in 36 plots in the field to which six treatments and treatment combinations (UV-A, UV-B, UVA+T, UVB+T, T, and control) were randomly assigned. In this experiment, the VOC emission measurements from shoot and rhizosphere were conducted twice in 2014. One male and one female sapling (total of 72 saplings) were considered from each plot for VOC sampling while clones were randomly selected in each plot.

A number of hypotheses were tested to assess the effect biotic and abiotic stresses on the VOC emission responses of silver birch and European aspen. The research topics and hypotheses tested are summarized in table 1. Table 1. Summary of the research topics, experiments and hypotheses related to each topic

| Research topic                                    | Basic information/treatments                                     | Hypotheses tested  |
|---|--|--|
| Effect of insect herbivory on                     | Species: silver birch  | Foliage herbivory by geometrid moth species could activate<br>evenemic defence and increase VOC emission from shorts and the |
|   | Treatment: foliar herbivory by<br>geometrid moth larvae and bark | eyscence and increase you annot should and the thirdspheres of silver birch  |
|   | herbivory by pine weevil   | Bark damage by pine weevil induces systemic emission of VOCs from the choote and releaceders of eilow birch                  |
|   | Method: Online monitoring from shoot                             |  |
|   | and headspace VOC collection from shoot and the rhizosphere      | Different genotypes have variable VOC emission responses to<br>foliage or bark herbivory at field condition                  |
|   | Analysis: PTR-TOF-MS, GC MS                                      |  |
| Effect of provenance                              | Species: silver birch  | The quality and quantity of VOC emissions would differ between   |
| translocation across a<br>latitudinal gradient in | Factors: Changes in biotic and abiotic                           | experimental sites and among silver birch provenances so that<br>northward translocation of southern and central provenances |
| Finland (experiment 2)                            | stresses across locations  | reduce VOC emissions while southward translocation of northern   |
|   | Method: Headspace VOC collection                                 | provenances increases VOC emissions  |
|   | from shoot and the rhizosphere                                   | There is greater herbivore stress at lower latitudes than at higher  |
|   | Analysis: GC MS  | latitudes resulting in a greater induction of VOCs at lower latitudes  |
| Effects of Enhanced UV-                           | Species: European aspen  | Warming and UV-B radiation influence VOC emission from shoots  |
| radiation, elevated                               | Treatment: UV-B radiation (30.9%).                               | and rhizospheres of European aspen.  |
| emission from European                            | UV-A, warming (ambient +2°C) and                                 | The combined enhancement of UV and temperature have different  |
| aspen (experiment 1)                              | their combination  | effect than their separate effects on the VOC emission   |
|   | Method: Headspace VOC collection from shoot and the rhizosphere  | Female plants emit more VOCs than male plants in response to elevated temperature and UV-radiation                           |
|   | Analysis: GC MS  |  |

### 1.9 DESCRIPTION OF THE VOC MEASUREMENTS AND ANALYSIS

Most of the VOC measurements reported in this thesis were conducted using a dynamic head space collection method (Stewart-Jones and Poppy, 2006; Amo et al., 2013). VOC measurements in the field were performed using a portable VOC collection system designed for field sampling which consists of power batteries, air filtering system, air flow tubing, and the Tenax tubes (Figure 3). Before VOC sampling, preheated (120°C, 1 hr) polyethylene terephthalate (PET) bags were used to enclose branches from which VOCs were sampled. During VOC collection, air inside the bags was pulled at a rate of 200ml/min while filtered air was pushed into the bags (300 ml/min) to make sure that there was continuous replacement air inside the bag. The volume of replacement air was slightly higher compared to air pulled by the sampling line in order to prevent contamination and compensate possible leakage. The compounds that were pulled through the sampling line were adsorbed in an Automatic Thermal Desorption (ATD) steel tube filled with Tenax-TA adsorbents. Immediately after collection, the samples were kept in cool boxes for transportation and stored in a refrigerator until analysis.

During VOC collection, temperature and photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) were monitored by HOBO Micro Station (Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, MA, USA). The emission rates of VOCs from shoots of silver birch (chapter 2 and 3) and European aspen (chapter 4) were standardized for +30°C according to temperature dependent algorithms of Guenther et al (1993) for MTs and Duhl et al (2008) for SQTs. However, the effects of light levels on the monoterpene and SQT emission rates were not considered mainly because there is no light dependent algorithm available for silver birch. In many field studies of *Betula* spp. at northern ecosystems, only temperature correction is used for monoterpene and SQT emissions (Schollert et al. 2015; Rinnan et al. 2011). This is partly based an observation that both MT and SQT emissions of mountain birch were slightly better explained by the solely temperature dependent algorithm (Haapanala et al. 2009). In the aspen experiment (chapter 4), isoprene emission rates were standardized also for light to a photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) of 1000  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and temperature levels according to Guenther et al (1993).

VOC samples were also collected from the rhizosphere by using a plastic collar designed for this purpose. A week before VOC collection, the ground in close proximity of the plants was weeded and the soil was dug with hand forks to soften the surface before inserting the collars into the ground (about 2 cm). The VOC measurements from

the rhizosphere were carried out in similar way to VOC collection from the shoot but the duration was longer (1 hr). The online VOC monitoring discussed in chapter II was performed by using high-resolution proton-transfer reaction time-of-flight mass spectrometer (PTR-TOF 8000, Ionicon Analytik, Innsbruck Austria). The online monitoring was conducted in laboratory conditions on the Hausjärvi provenance trees only.

The VOC samples were analysed by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC MS) and the compounds were identified according to the mass spectra in the Wiley library, and quantified by pure standard compounds. In order to determine the accuracy of emission from plant parts, blank samples were collected from PET bags alone as well as the plastic collars and any emission found was subtracted from the total emission to determine the actual emission from the plants. In order to determine the VOC emission rates, photos of the leaves were taken by digital camera against millimetre paper as a background and leaf area of the enclosed leaves was calculated. Then the emission rates from the shoots were expressed in nanograms per square metre of leaf area per second (ng m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>). The rhizosphere emission rates were expressed in nanograms per square metre of soil surface area inside the plastic collars.



Figure 3. Schematic presentation of the collection system used to sample VOCs from headspace of living tree branch in the field

## 5 General Discussion

### 5.1 SHORT- AND LONG-TERM HERBIVORY INDUCED VOC EMISSIONS FROM SILVER BIRCH

### 5.1.1 Short-term foliar herbivory caused burst of green leaf volatiles (GLVs)

The online monitoring by PTR-TOF-MS showed a rapid induction of GLVs due to herbivore damage by the geometrid moth larvae. The large burst of GLVs peaked at a certain order; aldehydes were released first while alcohols and acetates were released after a delay of a few minutes. Alcohols are produced through oxidation of aldehydes whereas acetates are the result of acetyl transfer by acetyl transferase. Typical wound volatiles such as cis-3-hexenal, trans-3-hexenal and trans-2-hexenal were emitted immediately after damage and the same was reported in previous insect herbivory or mechanical damage studies on a range of plant species (Dudareva et al., 2006). There was a lag period in the emission of acetates. Fall et al (1999) reported similar delayed emission of alcohols and acetates from mechanically wounded aspen plants.

The emission of these compounds oscillated a great deal during the feeding hours and the peaks seemed to follow the feeding pattern of insects (chapter 2, Figure 1). The oscillation of the peaks suggests that each biting and tearing of the plant tissue might have caused the breakdown of the fatty acids of plant cell membranes and led to the large release while the resting phase of the larvae was shown by gaps in the peaks of the GLVs. This is in line with previous studies that observed induction of certain GLVs following insect herbivory (Paré and Tumlinson, 1997, 1999). Although methanol emissions did not show feeding-dependent response, there was a large burst especially in the morning which could be explained by tight stomatal control over its emission. Methanol usually builds up during overnight and is released in large quantities in the morning following the opening of the stomata (Niinemets and Reichstein, 2003). The emission rate of isoprenoids was not as substantial as GLVs because silver birch does not have storage structures to release terpenoids in large quantities after damage, but emission rates increased gradually throughout the monitoring period possibly due to activation of metabolic pathways. Measurements from intact shoots while larvae were feeding on side branch showed low emission rates, but there was no difference in VOC

profile between intact and damaged shoot. The rapid emission immediately after the beginning of herbivory indicates that herbivore-induced GLVs are released soon after damage and rapidly disappear into atmosphere due to their volatile nature. Thus, timing of the measurements of herbivore-induced VOCs is important to get more accurate emission rates.

### 5.1.2 Long-term foliar herbivory induced VOC emission

There was a transient increase in the emission rates of total MTs due to long-term foliar herbivory by larvae of the geometrid moth (chapter 2, Figure 2). However, the increase in the total MTs emission was observed only in genotype 14 (gt14) while herbivore damage caused a slight reduction in the emission rates of total MTs from genotype 15 (gt15) and Hausjärvi provenance trees. The effect of herbivory and genotype differences on VOC emission was greater in 2011 but declined in 2012. The VOC emission response might be affected by differences in climatic conditions in each year, or probably the plants had acclimatized to herbivore damage in the second year. In general, VOC emissions from birch plants were higher in June than August. This is attributable to higher temperature and light condition in June which can influence the amount of inducible volatiles (Takabayashi and Dicke, 1996). Moreover, differences in June, thus any damage to these tissues can induce more emissions compared to mature or senescing leaves. The variability in the emission rates between the genotypes suggests that VOC emission responses are genetically controlled.

Principal component analysis of field VOC data revealed that emissions of GLVs (cis-3hexenol, cis-3-hexenyl acetate, cis-3-hexenyl butyrate and methyl salicylate) were more associated with Hausjärvi trees than with the micropropagated genotypes during the second measurement. Thus, it is logical to suggest that Hausjärvi provenance trees might be more palatable or more responsive to herbivory than micropropagated genotypes. However, the GLVs were not detected in large quantities during all measurements indicating that these compounds are usually emitted immediately after fresh damages as discussed in section 5.1.1, and the systemic emission from intact parts might also follow similar pattern. On the other hand, Hausjärvi provenance trees emitted more SQTs, especially  $\beta$ -caryophyllene as a result of herbivory while  $\beta$ bourbonene was associated more to gt14 plants. In general, the emission of different VOCs lacked consistent pattern over the course of the two experimental years in the field condition. Although the VOC data were temperature corrected, other abiotic factors could have affected the substrate supply for the synthesis of VOCs. In addition to environmental variation, the differences in VOC blend are the result of genetic control over synthesis of VOCs particularly terpenoids (Nerg et al., 1994). Vuorinen et al (2007) and Mäntylä et al (2008) reported similar VOC emission responses of silver birch to foliage herbivory but the VOC blend was slightly different compared to the VOC blend in this study. Ocimenes, DMNT as well as linalool were emitted in higher quantities from silver birch as a result of herbivory by *E. autumnata* (Vuorinen et al., 2007) and the response to herbivory was much stronger than what has been observed in our study. That might be explained by the fact that Vuorinen et al., (2007) performed their study on younger seedlings in more actively growing stage than those used in this study.

### 5.1.3 No systemic effect of bark herbivory on VOC emission

Bark beetle outbreak is a concern in some areas of boreal region as bark damaging insects can also take advantage of climate warming (Williams and Liebhold, 2002), and damage to the bark is capable of inducing VOCs from surrounding tissues (Heijari et al. 2011). In the bark herbivory experiment, similar to foliar herbivory, there was a genotype x herbivory interaction effect as herbivore-infested gt14 plants had higher emission rates of total MTs and total VOCs than gt15 and Hausjärvi provenance trees. The genotype effect was clearer in 2011 as micropropagated genotypes seem to be more sensitive to bark damage as these plants emitted more inducible GLVs than Hausjärvi provenance trees due to bark herbivory (chapter 2). In the last measurement, conducted in late summer of 2012, Hausjärvi provenance trees emitted more GLVs than micropropagated saplings. GLVs were also released in large quantities from control plants indicating that other herbivores and plant pathogens might have affected emission rates from control plants. Despite variabilities in emission rates of different VOCs, this study is significant as it was able to quantify genotype-dependent effects of herbivore damage on VOC emission from silver birch in the field conditions.

### 5.2 VOC EMISSION RESPONSES OF SILVER BIRCH TO PROVENANCE TRANSLOCATION ACROSS A LATITUDINAL GRADIENT

Abiotic and biotic conditions determine the optimum strategy on the type and amount of resources allotted to both constitutive and inducible plant defences (Rasmann et al., 2014). As expected, the quality and quantity of VOC emission differed between the two experimental sites, Joensuu and Kolari, separated by over 500 km. All provenances emitted higher rates of different VOCs at central site in 2012 but the vice versa was true in 2013 (chapter 3, Figure 2). The higher emission of total MTs, total SQTs and total VOCs from plants at central site in 2012, and plants at northern site (which has more maritime climate than continental) in 2013 might be explained by higher cumulative temperature at the respective sites up until the VOC measurement days. The accumulated average daily temperature can affect phenology (e.g. bud burst and leaf out) and stages of VOC emission from different plant species (Hakola et al., 2001). There was a large variability in emission rates between different sampling dates; so environmental factors that are not included in the adjustment equation might have contributed to it. The variabilities also suggest that there are still uncertainties surrounding VOC collections at field condition. Therefore, interpretation of VOC data acquired from natural settings needs caution to achieve more precise flux estimation in the face of changing environmental conditions. Moreover, there is a substantial annual difference in cumulative temperature and precipitation due to the 500 km difference between sample sites, which means that longer than 2 years monitoring period is needed to reliably assess the effects of local climate.

Plant provenances are usually adapted to local conditions and thus can differ in their response to a wide range of environmental conditions. In line with the hypothesis, the results in this study showed that VOC emission rates and profile of the compounds were significantly altered according to provenance origin. Some existing literature points out that plants of southern origin are more adapted to higher herbivory than those from the north (Pennings and Silliman, 2005) and therefore develop better defence against it (Van Alstyne et al., 2001). In the present study, southern provenance (Loppi) trees had the lowest total VOC emission at both sites, which is opposite to the long held assumption that plants of lower latitude have higher defence traits than plants of higher latitudes (Coley and Aide, 1991; Van Alstyne et al., 2001). Kivimäenpää et al (2012) found variation in terpene emission from cut surfaces of Scots pine depending on provenance origin. In their study, the southernmost provenance (Tartu 58°N) emitted higher proportions of compounds such as carene, sabinene,  $\gamma$ -terpinene and terpinolene than Suonenjoki (62°N) and Kemijarvi (66 °N) provenances. However,

Nerg et al (1994) reported that seed origin does not affect the concentration of secondary compounds in Scots pine seedlings. On the other hand, chemical defence traits, including resin concentration (Wainhouse et al. 1998) and lignin content (Wainhouse and Ashburner, 1996), have shown differences based on provenance origin. Contrary to expectations, transferring the southern and central provenances to the northern site or the northern provenance to the central site, had no effect on VOC emission. Only the VOC blend showed differences mainly because northern saplings emitted more GLVs at the central site while the southern and central provenance emitted more terpenoids at the northern site (chapter 3, Figure 4c). Although transferring plants along a latitudinal gradient may have negative effects on plant performance (Ovaska et al., 2005) the effect on secondary chemistry of silver birch was not clear.

Herbivore assessment on branches showed variation in herbivore-damage at both sites during the experimental seasons. The northern and central provenance saplings showed no difference in the level of herbivore damage at both sites with the northern having higher damage level compared to the other provenances (chapter 3, Figure 5). In 2013, all provenances had more herbivore damage at northern site during the first sampling but the trend was not the same in the second sampling as all provenances had nearly similar levels of herbivore damage with the exception of southern provenance having higher damage at central site. In general, herbivory was higher at northern site suggesting that plants are more prone or more palatable to herbivory at higher latitudes (Ho and Pennings, 2013). However, the level of herbivore damage was not necessarily reflected on the VOC emission except higher emission of herbivore-damage induced VOCs (cis-3-hexenol, cis-3-hexenyl acetate and cis-3-hexenyl butyrate) at northern site in 2013.

Herbivore damage assessment was performed only on enclosed part of the branch which might have over- or underestimated the damage intensity in trees resulting to lack of clear relationship between herbivore damage and VOC emissions. In addition, there was no knowledge when the damages first occurred and some of the damages were not fresh and thus might no longer induce VOCs. In the same experimental sites, herbivore damage assessment was carried out on actively growing part of the shoot in 2011 and 2012. There was an increase in the level of herbivore damage down the latitudinal gradient in 2011 but no clear trend was found in 2012 (Heimonen et al., 2015). Their herbivore assessment was on many actively growing shoots of the top canopy unlike our assessment which was limited to the branch used for VOC collection. This translocation experiment is relevant as it showed the variable responses of different provenances of silver birch along a latitudinal gradient. The VOC emission is one of traits that could contribute to the understanding of acclimation potentials of silver birch provenances/genotypes in the face of climate warming in boreal regions.

### 5.3 COMBINED ENHANCEMENT OF UV-RADIATION AND TEMPERATURE ALTERS VOC EMISSIONS FROM EUROPEAN ASPEN

As expected, warming enhanced the emission rates of isoprene and total VOCs from aspen saplings, but there was no significant effect on the emission rates of total MTs, SQTs and GLVs (chapter 4, Figure 1). This is consistent with results in various studies that have demonstrated temperature dependence of emissions of different VOCs in a range of plant species (Guenther et al., 1993; Singsaas et al., 1999; Niinemets et al., 2004). Aspens emit large quantities of isoprene (Hakola et al., 1998) and that was also seen here as isoprene accounted for approximately 90% of the total VOC emissions. Isoprene emitting species are better evolved to deal with oxidative stress and high temperature (Velikova and Loreto, 2005) through isoprene's capacity for heat removal, membrane stabilization or antioxidant functions that provide thermotolerance (Peñuelas et al., 2005). Therefore, higher levels of isoprene might enable aspens to adapt to higher temperature levels by protecting important organs through its antioxidative or membrane stabilizing role (Niinemets and Sun, 2014). High temperature affects the physico-chemical properties of isoprene and the diffusion resistance of the VOC emission channels inside leaves. Temperature can also affect VOC biosynthesis by regulating the reaction rate via its effect on enzymes that catalyse reactions for production of intermediates and substrates of isoprene (Niinemets and Sun, 2015). Hartikainen et al (2009) reported increase in MT and GLV emission but no significant enhancement in isoprene emission from genotypes of European aspen as a result of moderate air and soil warming (ambient + 0.8-1°C), which they associated with the continuous nature of temperature exposure rather than repeated episode.

In addition to emission rates, VOC blends were also affected by warming as there were increased emissions of trans- $\beta$ -caryophyllene and  $\beta$ -ocimene related to warming treatments. These compounds are often emitted as a result of environmental stress (Staudt et al., 2003; Grote et al., 2013). MTs are known to have role in protecting plants against stresses (Loreto and Schnitzler, 2010). However, in the present study warming was not reflected on the total MTs emission rates although some MTs (e.g.,  $\alpha$ -pinene, limonene and carene) were found to be more related to warming treatments.

In the present study, the combined effects of warming and UV-B radiation enhanced the emission rates of isoprene and total VOCs from European aspen. The two factors have somewhat different biochemical mechanism via which VOC emission is induced. Plants have evolved to protect themselves against reactive oxygen species production inside the tissue due to high temperature, while UV-B radiation causes injuries to proteins and membranes (Jansen et al., 1998) and thus may affect the emission of VOCs. How UV-B and warming caused additive effects on the emission of isoprene is not well understood, and thus the underlying mechanisms are open to be explored. The total MTs, total SQTs and total GLVs were similarly increased by the combined stresses, with the clearest effect found in July measurement (chapter 4, Figure 2).

European aspen is a dioecious (male and female reproductive structures on separate plants) species and its resource allocation to growth, development and defence can be gender specific. Variation in plant quality as a result of inter-sexual differences (Boecklen et al., 1990) might play role on plant defence traits including VOC emissions. In the present study, gender effects were seen in the emission rates of different compounds as females had higher emission of total MTs under UV-A and UV-B treatments with or without warming. Moreover, female saplings had more variation with regards to VOC blend composition compared to male saplings (chapter 4, Figure 3, 4). Females are slow growers and invest more resources on defensive compounds in stressful conditions (Cornelissen and Stiling, 2005). This suggests that in addition to defence against biotic stresses, sex-related differences play a role in resistance against abiotic stresses such as warming and UV-radiation. On the other hand, more resource allocation to reproductive parts in females may consume resources that might be used for synthesis of chemical compounds (Bañuelos et al., 2004) as the case reported in male Spanish plum (*Spondias purpurea* L.) plants (Maldonado-Lopez et al., 2014).

The results of this experiment are significant because they quantify for the first time the VOC emission responses of European aspen to the combined warming and UV-radiation at field condition. In light of predicted climate change factors in the coming decades, it is vital to understand how trees in boreal region, which are expected to face large effect of climate change, respond to multiple environmental factors. The results of this study indicate that emission rates and composition of VOCs are subject to change in the future as a result of expected changes in climate with a potential effect on air quality and atmospheric chemistry.

#### 5.4 RHIZOSPHERE EMISSIONS

Only MTs were detected in the rhizosphere samples of both foliar and bark herbivory experiments on silver birch. Contrary to the expectation, the emission rates were unaffected by genotype, herbivory or interaction of these factors. Similar results were reported in a previous study performed in cotton as herbivore damage on aboveground parts did not cause significant effect on VOC emission the rhizosphere (Bezemer et al., 2004). The VOC emission from roots in forested sites accounts for about half of the carbon emission from soil (Gray et al., 2014), but in this study the quantities of VOCs are not in the same order of magnitude as the compounds were detected only in small quantities. In provenance translocation experiment, VOC emissions from the rhizospheres of silver birch were not affected by provenance effect, and in general only few VOCs were detected from samples. In addition to terpenoids, GLVs found in the rhizosphere emissions may be attributable to mechanical damage sustained by birch roots during weeding. The result indicates that non-terpene storing roots of deciduous trees are not so responsive to above-ground stress as terpene-storing conifer roots (Ghimire et al., 2013). Similarly, emissions from the rhizospheres of European aspen were not affected by above ground warming and UV-B radiation treatments. Only lowmolecular-weight compounds such as toluene, which is associated to stressful conditions such as ozone level (Heiden et al., 1999), were detected but there was no clear difference in emission rates between control and treated plants.

### 5.5 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

As most of the VOC measurements (except online monitoring) were carried out in the field conditions where many external factors such as wind and relative humidity that could not be controlled during VOC measurements, these factors might have affected plants and the sampling procedure. Therefore, it is likely that some of these factors have caused physical injury and influenced tree physiology contributing to the large variability of VOC emissions. In the field conditions, the surrounding plants are also probably affecting the VOC responses and natural background herbivory is difficult to fully exclude.

In provenance translocation study, the southern site (Tuusula) had to be excluded due to high mortality of the saplings as a result of fungal diseases. This means that VOC measurements were carried out from the central (Joensuu) and northern (Kolari) sites only, and this limited the possibility of making the planned comparison of larger latitudinal gradient measurements and full understanding of its effect on VOC emissions. This study also indicated that not only latitudinal gradient (i.e. temperature change and herbivore pressure along the latitude) affected the VOCs but there were probably also some masking factors like photoperiod and edaphic factors which affected responses.

Several previous studies have used similar VOC collection method, i.e., dynamic headspace VOC collection technique (Stewart-Jones and Poppy, 2006; Blande et al., 2007; Ibrahim et al., 2010). Some of the constraints in this method include the mechanical induction of VOCs while fixing the lines and changes in air flow rates after flushing the empty PET bags. The changing flow rates of incoming air can affect photosynthesis of experimental plants, which may in turn influence VOC synthesis and emission. However, this measurement procedure was the same for all the plants from which VOCs were sampled, thus it may not be considered as a serious flaw. This method is the best method thus far to conduct VOC measurements in remote sites and enable to collect several simultaneous samples by saving time between measurements. The VOC measurement from rhizosphere has its own limitations as the collection system or the sampling times used might not be sensitive enough to detect the VOC flux from the roots and rhizosphere system, so future methodological considerations are necessary to acquire more accurate VOC emission rates.

### 5.6 CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

This study revealed contrasting pattern in VOC emission to short- and long-term herbivore damage to silver birch by geometrid moth species (*A. aurantiaria* and *E. defoliaria*). Herbivory showed strong influence on VOC emission on short-term whereas a long-term response was transient and variable throughout the measurement period. VOC emissions to both foliar and bark herbivory were altered based on genotype differences, but aboveground herbivory had no significant influence on VOC emission from rhizosphere.

The VOC emission response of silver birch at common garden experimental sites varied based on provenance origin and the responses of VOC blends was genotype-specific which suggests that there was genetic control over VOC biosynthesis. However, provenance translocation across latitudinal gradient had no effect on VOC emissions or herbivore damage intensity. This indicates that provenances of silver birch may not be very sensitive to changes in environmental conditions at least in short-term. Moreover, the study does not support the classical theory that plants have higher defence at lower latitudes than at higher latitudes.

The study also showed that combined environmental factors (warming and UVradiation) had additive effects on the emission rates of VOCs from European aspen. As the impacts of these factors increase as a result of climate change, it is likely that they might alter VOC emission rates from different plant species, especially for those in boreal regions.

In conclusion, the VOC emission response of deciduous trees is dependent on biotic and abiotic factors at laboratory and field conditions. Herbivory effect on VOC emission seemed to be greater immediately after damage and declines gradually. In order to get accurate VOC emission rates to insect herbivory, measurements need to be carried out immediately after herbivore attack. Performing emission rates right away after herbivory from individual plant species will enable to scale up estimation of annual stress-induced VOC emission at regional and global scale. As a model plant species, the response of aspen to warming and enhanced UV-B radiation is an important step in understanding how future changes in the environment might affect defence traits. Higher isoprene emission in response to combined climatic factors might be a resistance trait that provides protection against these stresses, but the mechanisms underlying the additive effect need further investigation. High emission of isoprene in response to these stresses from deciduous trees should not be overlooked in the face of predicted changes in temperature and other abiotic stresses.

# 6 References

- Adams JM, Zhang YJ (2009) Is there more insect folivory in warmer temperate climates? A latitudinal comparison of insect folivory in eastern North America. Journal of Ecology 97:933–940.
- Ambasht NK, Agrawal AA (1997) Influence of supplemental UV-B radiation on photosynthetic characteristics of rice plants. Photosynthetica 34: 401–408.
- Ammunét T, Kaukoranta T, Saikkonen K, Repo T, Klemola T (2012) Invading and resident defoliators in a changing climate: cold tolerance and predictions concerning extreme winter cold as a range limiting factor. Ecological Entomology 37:212–220.
- Amo L, Jansen JJ, van Dam NM, Dicke M, Visser ME (2013) Birds exploit herbivoreinduced plant volatiles to locate herbivorous prey. Ecology Letters 16: 1348-1355.
- Atkinson R, Arey J (2003) Atmospheric degradation of volatile organic compounds. Chemical Reviews 103: 4605–4638.
- Atkinson NJ, Urwin PE (2012) The interaction of plant biotic and abiotic stresses: from genes to the field. Journal of experimental botany 63: 3523–3543.
- Ayres MP, Lombardero MJ (2000) Assessing the consequences of global change for forest disturbance from herbivores and pathogens. Science of the Total Environment 262: 263–286.
- Bale JS, Masters GJ, Hodkinson ID, Awmack C, Bezemer TM, Brown VK,... & Whittaker JB (2002) Herbivory in global climate change research: direct effects of rising temperature on insect herbivores. Global Change Biology 8: 1–16.
- Bañuelos MJ, Sierra M, Obeso JR (2004) Sex, secondary compounds and asymmetry. Effects on plant–herbivore interaction in a dioecious shrub. Acta Oecologica 25: 151–157.
- Barnett TP, Pierce DW, AchutaRao KM, Gleckler PJ, Santer BD, Gregory JM,... & Washington WM (2005) Penetration of human-induced warming into the world's oceans. Science 309: 284–287.
- Battisti A, Stastny M, Buffo E, Larsson S (2006) A rapid altitudinal range expansion in the pine processionary moth produced by the 2003 climatic anomaly. Global Change Biology 12: 662–671.
- Beauchamp J, Wisthaler A, Hansel A, Kleist E, Miebach M, Niinemets Ü,... & Wildt J (2005) Ozone induced emissions of biogenic VOC from tobacco: relations between

ozone uptake and emission of LOX products. Plant Cell & Environment 28:1334– 1343.

- Beniston M, Tol RSJ (1998) Europe. In: Watson RT, Zinyowera MC, Moss RH (eds.): The regional impacts of climate change. A special report of IPCC Working Group II, 149–185. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge.
- Beringer J, Chapin FS, Thompson CC, McGuire AD (2005) Surface energy exchanges along a tundra-forest transition and feedbacks to climate. Agricultural &Forest Meteorology 131: 143–161.
- Bezemer TM, Wagenaar R, Van Dam NM, Van Der Putten WH, Wäckers FL (2004) Above-and below-ground terpenoid aldehyde induction in cotton, Gossypium herbaceum, following root and leaf injury. Journal of chemical ecology 30: 53–67.
- Blande JD, Korjus M, Holopainen JK (2010) Foliar methyl salicylate emissions indicate prolonged aphid infestation on silver birch and black alder. Tree Physiology 30:404–416.
- Blande JD, Tiiva P, Oksanen E, Holopainen JK (2007) Emission of herbivore-induced volatile terpenoids from two hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* x *tremuloides*) clones under ambient and elevated ozone concentrations in the field. Global Change Biology 13:2538–2550.
- Blande JD, Turunen K, Holopainen JK (2009) Pine weevil feeding on Norway spruce bark has a stronger impact on needle VOC emissions than enhanced ultraviolet-B radiation. Environmental pollution 157: 174–180.
- Boecklen WJ, Price PW, Mopper S (1990) Sex and drugs and herbivores: sex-biased herbivory in arroyo willow (*Salix lasiolepis*). Ecology 71: 581–588.
- Boisvenue C, Running SW (2006) Impacts of climate change on natural forest productivity–evidence since the middle of the 20th century. Global Change Biology 12: 862–882.
- Bonan GB (2008) Forests and climate change: forcings, feedbacks, and the climate benefits of forests. Science 320:1444–1449.
- Bonn B, Moortgat GK (2003) Sesquiterpene ozonolysis: Origin of atmospheric new particle formation from biogenic hydrocarbons. Geophysical research letters 30, 1585, (11).
- Bornman JF, Barnes PW, Robinson SA, Ballare CL, Flint SD, Caldwell MM (2015) Solar ultraviolet radiation and ozone depletion-driven climate change: effects on terrestrial ecosystems. Photochemical and Photobiological Sciences 14:88–107.
- Briceño-Elizondo E, Garcia-Gonzalo J, Peltola H, Matala J, Kellomäki S (2006) Sensitivity of growth of Scots pine, Norway spruce and silver birch to climate change and forest management in boreal conditions. Forest Ecology & Management 232: 152–167.

- Brilli F, Hörtnagl L, Bamberger I, Schnitzhofer R, Ruuskanen TM, Hansel A,... & Wohlfahrt G (2012) Qualitative and quantitative characterization of volatile organic compound emissions from cut grass. Environmental Science &Technology 46:3859–3865.
- Calfapietra C, Pallozzi E, Lusini I, Velikova V (2013) Modification of BVOC emissions by changes in atmospheric [CO2] and air pollution. In: Niinemets Ü, Monson RK (eds) Biology, controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree physiology. Springer, Berlin, pp 253–284.
- Capitani D, Brilli F, Mannina L, Proietti N, Loreto F (2009) In situ investigation of leaf water status by portable unilateral nuclear magnetic resonance. Plant Physiology 149:1638–1647.
- Cardoza YJ, Tumlinson JH (2006) Compatible and incompatible Xanthomonas infections differentially affect herbivore-induced volatile emission by pepper plants. Journal of Chemical Ecology 32:1755–1768.
- Carroll AL, Taylor SW, Régnière J, Safranyik L (2003) Effect of climate change on range expansion by the mountain pine beetle in British Columbia. In Shore TL et al (eds) Mountain Pine Beetle Symposium: Challenges and Solutions, Oct. 30-31, 2003. Kelowna BC. Natural Resources Canada, Information Report BC-X-399, Victoria, pp 223–232.
- Chen IC, Hill JK, Ohlemüller R, Roy DB, Thomas CD (2011) Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. Science 333: 1024-1026.
- Chmielewski FM, Rötzer T (2001) Response of tree phenology to climate change across Europe. Agriculture and Forest Meteorology 108: 101–112.
- Chmielewski FM, Rötzer T (2002) Annual and spatial variability of the beginning of growing season in Europe in relation to air temperature changes. Climate research 19: 257–264.
- Clarke A, Fraser KPP (2004) Why does metabolism scale with temperature. Functional Ecology 18: 243–251.
- Coley PD, Aide TM (1991) Comparison of herbivory and plant defenses in temperate and tropical broad-leaved forests. In: Price PW (ed.) Plant–animal interactions: evolutionary ecology in tropical and temperate regions. John Wiley and Sons , New York, pp 25–49.
- Coley PD, Barone JA (1996) Herbivory and plant defenses in tropical forests. Annual Review of Ecology & Systematics 305–335.
- Copolovici L, Kännaste A, Remmel T, Niinemets Ü (2014) Volatile organic compound emissions from Alnus glutinosa under interacting drought and herbivory stresses. Environmental & Experimental Botany 100: 55–63.

- Copolovici L, Kännaste A, Remmel T, Vislap V, Niinemets Ü (2011) Volatile emissions from *Alnus glutinosa* induced by herbivory are quantitatively related to the extent of damage. Journal of Chemical Ecology 37:18–28.
- Copolovici L, Niinemets Ü (2010) Flooding induced emissions of volatile signalling compounds in three tree species with differing waterlogging tolerance. Plant Cell & Environment 33:1582–1594.
- Cornelissen T, Stiling P (2005) Sex-biased herbivory: a meta-analysis of the effects of gender on plant-herbivore interactions. Oikos 111: 488–500.
- Delava E, Allemand R, Léger L, Fleury F, Gibert P (2014) The rapid northward shift of the range margin of a Mediterranean parasitoid insect (Hymenoptera) associated with regional climate warming. Journal of Biogeography 41: 1379–1389.
- Dale VH, Joyce LA, McNulty S, Neilson RP, Ayres M P, Flannigan MD,... & Michael Wotton, B. (2001). Climate change and forest disturbances: climate change can affect forests by altering the frequency, intensity, duration, and timing of fire, drought, introduced species, insect and pathogen outbreaks, hurricanes, windstorms, ice storms, or landslides. BioScience 51:723–734.
- Deutsch CA, Tewksbury JJ, Huey RB, Sheldon KS, Ghalambor CK, Haak DC, Martin PR (2008) Impacts of climate warming on terrestrial ectotherms across latitude. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105: 6668–6672.
- Dicke M, Loreto F (2010) Induced plant volatiles: from genes to climate change. Trends in Plant Science 15: 115–117.
- Dolzhenko Y, Bertea CM, Occhipinti A, Bossi S, Maffei ME (2010) UV-B modulates the interplay between terpenoids and flavonoids in peppermint (*Mentha× piperita* L.). Journal of Photochemistry & Photobiology B: Biology 100: 67–75.
- Dudareva N, Klempien A, Muhlemann JK, Kaplan I (2013) Biosynthesis, function and metabolic engineering of plant volatile organic compounds. New Phytologist 198: 16–32.
- Dudareva N, Negre F, Nagegowda DA, Orlova I (2006) Plant volatiles: recent advances and future perspectives. Critical reviews in plant sciences 25: 417–440.
- Dudareva N, Pichersky E (2008) Metabolic engineering of plant volatiles. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 19:181–189.
- Duhl TR, Helmig D, Guenther A (2008) Sesquiterpene emissions from vegetation: a review. Biogeosciences 5: 761–777.
- Ehn M, Thornton JA, Kleist E, Sipilä M, Junninen H, Pullinen I,... & Mentel TF (2014) A large source of low-volatility secondary organic aerosol. Nature 506: 476–479.

- Elmhagen B, Kindberg J, Hellström P, Angerbjörn A (2015) A boreal invasion in response to climate change? Range shifts and community effects in the borderland between forest and tundra. Ambio 44: 39–50.
- Engelkes T, Morrien E, Verhoeven KJF, Bezemer TM, Biere A, Harvey JA,... & van der Putten WH (2008) Successful range-expanding plants experience less aboveground and below-ground enemy impact. Nature 456:946–48.
- Fall R, Karl T, Hansel A, Jordan A, Lindinger W (1999) Volatile organic compounds emitted after leaf wounding: on-line analysis by proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry. Journal of geophysical research 104:15963–15974.
- Filella I, Peñuelas J (1999) Altitudinal differences in UV absorbance, UV reflectance and related morphological traits of *Quercus ilex* and *Rhododendron ferrugineum* in the Mediterranean region. Plant Ecology 145: 157–165.
- Fineschi S, Loreto F, Staudt M, Peñuelas J (2013) Diversification of volatile isoprenoid emissions from trees: evolutionary and ecological perspectives. In: Niinemets Ü, Monson RK (eds) Biology, controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree physiology. Springer, Berlin, pp 1–20.
- Ghimire R, Markkanen JM, Kivimäenpää M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Holopainen JK (2013) Needle removal by pine sawfly larvae increases branch-level VOC emissions and reduces below-ground emissions of Scots pine. Environmental Science & Technology 47: 4325–4332.
- Gil M, Bottini R, Berli F, Pontin M, Silva MF, Piccoli P (2013) Volatile organic compounds characterized from grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Malbec) berries increase at pre-harvest and in response to UV-B radiation. Phytochemistry 96: 148–157.
- Gray CM, Monson RK, Fierer N (2014) Biotic and abiotic controls on biogenic volatile organic compound fluxes from a subalpine forest floor. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 119: 547–556.
- Gray DW, Goldstein AH, Lerdau MT (2005) The influence of light environment on photosynthesis and basal methyl butenol emission from *Pinus ponderosa*. Plant Cell & Environment 28:1463–1474.
- Grote R, Monson RK, Niinemets Ü (2013) Leaf-level models of constitutive and stressdriven volatile organic compound emissions. In: Niinemets Ü, Monson RK (eds) Biology, controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree physiology. Springer, Berlin, pp 315–355.

- Guenther A, Geron C, Pierce T, Lamb B, Harley P, Fall R (2000) Natural emissions of non-methane volatile organic compounds, carbon monoxide, and oxides of nitrogen from North America. Atmospheric Environment 34: 2205–2230.
- Guenther A, Hewitt CN, Erickson D, Fall R, Geron C, Graedel T,... & Zimmerman P (1995) A global model of natural volatile organic compound emissions. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984–2012) 100: 8873–8892.
- Guenther A, Karl T, Harley P, Wiedinmyer C, Palmer PI, Geron C (2006) Estimates of global terrestrial isoprene emissions using MEGAN (Model of Emissions of Gases and Aerosols from Nature). Atmospheric Chemistry & Physics Discussions 6: 107–173.
- Guenther A, Zimmerman PR, Harley PC, Monson RK, Fall R (1993) Isoprene and monoterpene emission rate variability: model evaluations and sensitivity analyses. Journal of Geophysical Research 98: 12609–12617.
- Haapanala S, Ekberg A, Hakola H, Tarvainen V, Rinne J, Hellén H, Arneth A (2009) Mountain birch–potentially large source of sesquiterpenes into high latitude atmosphere. Biogeosciences 6: 2709–2718.
- Hakola H, Laurila T, Lindfors V, Hellén H, Gaman A, Rinne J (2001) Variation of the VOC emission rates of birch species during the growing season. Boreal environment research 6: 237–249.
- Hakola H, Rinne J, Laurila T (1998) The hydrocarbon emission rates of tea-leafed willow (Salix phylicifolia), Silver birch (*Betula pendula*) and European aspen (*Populus tremula*). Atmospheric Environment 32:1825–1833.
- Hakola H, Tarvainen V, Bäck J, Ranta H, Bonn B, Rinne J,... & Kulmala M (2006) Seasonal variation of mono-and sesquiterpene emission rates of Scots pine. Biogeosciences 3:93–101.
- Harley PC (2013) The roles of stomatal conductance and compound volatility in controlling the emission of volatile organic compounds from leaves. In: Niinemets U, Monson RK (eds) Biology, controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree Physiology. Springer, Berlin, pp 181–208.
- Harley P, Deem G, Flint S, Caldwell M (1996) Effects of growth under elevated UV-B on photosynthesis and isoprene emission in *Quercus gambelii* and *Mucuna pruriens*. Global Change Biology 2:149–154.
- Hartikainen K, Nerg AM, Kivimäenpää M, Kontunen-Soppela S, Mäenpää M, Oksanen E,... & Holopainen T (2009) Emissions of volatile organic compounds and leaf structural characteristics of European aspen (*Populus tremula*) grown under elevated ozone and temperature. Tree Physiology 29:53–66.
- Hassinen V, Vallinkoski VM, Issakainen S, Tervahauta A, Kärenlampi S, Servomaa K (2009) Correlation of foliar MT2b expression with Cd and Zn concentrations in

hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* × *tremuloides*) grown in contaminated soil. Environmental Pollution 157: 922–930.

- Heiden AC, Kahl J, Kley D, Klockow D, Langebartels C, Melhorn H,... & Wildt J (1999) Emission of volatile organic compounds from ozone-exposed plants. Ecological Application 94:1160–1167.
- Heijari J, Blande JD, Holopainen JK (2011) Feeding of large pine weevil on Scots pine stem triggers localised bark and systemic shoot emission of volatile organic compounds. Environmental & Experimental Botany 71:390–398.
- Heimonen K, Valtonen A, Kontunen-Soppela S, Keski-Saari S, Rousi M, Oksanen E, Roininen H (2015). Insect herbivore damage on latitudinally translocated silver birch (*Betula pendula*) – predicting the effects of climate change. Climatic Change 1–13.
- Hill JK, Thomas CD, Fox R, Telfer MG, Willis SG, Asher J,... & Huntley B (2002) Responses of butterflies to twentieth century climate warming: implications for future ranges. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 269: 2163–2171.
- Ho CK, Pennings SC (2013) Preference and performance in plant-herbivore interactions across latitude-a study in US Atlantic salt marshes. PloS one: 8(3).
- Hollosy F (2002) Effects of ultraviolet radiation on plant cells. Micron 33: 179–197.
- Holopainen JK (2004) Multiple functions of inducible plant volatiles. Trends in plant science 9: 529–533.
- Holopainen JK (2011) Can forest trees compensate for stress-generated growth losses by induced production of volatile compounds? Tree Physiology 31:1356–1377.
- Holopainen JK, Gershenzon J (2010) Multiple stress factors and the emission of plant VOCs. Trends in plant science 15: 176–184.
- Hunter MD (2001) Effects of elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide on insect–plant interactions. Agricultural & Forest Entomology 3: 153–159.
- Ibrahim MA, Mäenpää M, Hassinen V, Kontunen-Soppela S, Malec L, Rousi M,... & Oksanen EJ (2010) Elevation of night-time temperature increases terpenoid emissions from *Betula pendula* and *Populus tremula*. Journal of Experimental Botany 61:1583–1595.
- IPCC (2001) Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp

- Izaguirre MM, Scopel AL, Baldwin IT, Ballaré CL (2003) Convergent responses to stress. Solar ultraviolet-B radiation and *Manduca sexta* herbivory elicit overlapping transcriptional responses in field-grown plants of *Nicotiana longiflora*. Plant Physiology 132: 1755–1767.
- Jansen MA, Gaba V, Greenberg BM (1998) Higher plants and UV-B radiation: balancing damage, repair and acclimation. Trends in plant science 3: 131–135.
- Jepsen JU, Hagen SB, Ims RA, Yoccoz NG (2008) Climate change and outbreaks of the geometrids *Operophtera brumata* and *Epirrita autumnata* in subarctic birch forest: evidence of a recent outbreak range expansion. Journal of Animal Ecology 77: 257–264.
- Jepsen JU, Kapari L, Hagen SB, Schott T, Vindstad OPL, Nilssen AC,... & Ims RA (2011) Rapid northwards expansion of a forest insect pest attributed to spring phenology matching with sub-Arctic birch. Global Change Biology 17: 2071–2083.
- Johnson CB, Kirby J, Naxakis G, Pearson S (1999) Substantial UV-B-mediated induction of essential oils in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L .). Photochemistry 51:507–510.
- Joutsensaari J, Yli-Pirilä P, Korhonen H, Arola A, Blande JD, Heijari J,... & Holopainen JK (2015) Biotic stress accelerates formation of climate-relevant aerosols in boreal forests. Atmospheric Chemistry & Physics Discussions 15: 10853–10898.
- Karl T, Guenther A, Turnipseed A, Patton EG, Jardine K (2008) Chemical sensing of plant stress at the ecosystem scale. Biogeosciences 5:1287–1294.
- Kellomäki S, Peltola H, Nuutinen T, Korhonen K, Strandman H (2008) Sensitivity of boreal forests in Finland to climate change, with implications for adaptive management. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 363: 2341–2351.
- Kellomäki S, Rouvinen I, Peltola H, Strandman H, Steinbrecher R (2001) Impact of global warming on the tree species composition of boreal forests in Finland and effects on emission of isoprenoids. Global Change Biology 7:53–44.
- Kesselmeier J and Staudt M (1999) Biogenic volatile organic compounds (VOC): an overview on emission, physiology and ecology. Journal of atmospheric chemistry 33: 23–88.
- Kessler A, Baldwin IT (2001) Defensive function of herbivore-induced plant volatile emissions in nature. Science 291: 2141–2144.
- Kessler A, Baldwin IT (2002) Plant responses to insect herbivory: the emerging molecular analysis. Annual review of plant biology 53: 299–328.
- Kessler A, Halitschke R (2007) Specificity and complexity: the impact of herbivoreinduced plant responses on arthropod community structure. Curr Opin Plant Biol 10:409–414.

- Kivimäenpää M, Magsarjav N, Ghimire R, Markkanen JM, Heijari J, Vuorinen M,... & Holopainen JK (2012) Influence of tree provenance on biogenic VOC emissions of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris) stumps. Atmospheric Environment 60: 477–485.
- Klapwijk MJ, Csóka G, Hirka A, Björkman C (2013) Forest insects and climate change: long-term trends in herbivore damage. Ecology and evolution 3: 4183–4196.
- Knudsen JT, Tollste L, Bergstorm LG (1993) Floral scents: a checklist of volatile compounds isolated by head-space techniques. Phytochemistry 33:253–280.
- Kostiainen K, Jalkanen H, Kaakinen S, Saranpaeae P, Vapaavuori E (2006) Wood properties of two silver birch clones exposed to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>3</sub>. Global Change Biology 12: 1230–1240.
- Kouki J, Arnold K, Martikainen P (2004) Long-term persistence of aspen a key host for many threatened species - is endangered in old-growth conservation areas in Finland. Journal for Nature Conservation 12: 41–52.
- Koven CD (2013) Boreal carbon loss due to poleward shift in low-carbon ecosystems. Nature Geoscience 6: 452–456.
- Kozlov MV, Stekolshchikov AV, Söderman G, Labina ES, Zverev V, Zvereva EL (2015) Sap-feeding insects on forest trees along latitudinal gradients in northern Europe: a climate-driven patterns. Global change biology 21: 106–116.
- Kulmala M, Nieminen T, Chellapermal R, Makkonen R, Bäck J, Kerminen V-M (2013) Climate feedbacks linking the increasing atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, BVOC emissions, aerosols and clouds in forest ecosystems. In: Niinemets Ü, Monson RK (eds) Biology, controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree physiology. Springer, Berlin, pp 489–508.
- Kulmala M, Suni T, Lehtinen KEJ, Dal Maso M, Boy M, Reissell A,... & Hari P (2004) A new feedback mechanism linking forests, aerosols, and climate. Atmospheric Chemistry& Physics 4:557–562
- Laothawornkitkul J, Moore JP, Taylor JE, Possell M, Gibson TD, Hewitt CN, ... & Paul ND (2008a) Discrimination of plant volatile signatures by an electronic nose: a potential technology for plant pest and disease monitoring. Environmental science & technology 42: 8433–8439.
- Laothawornkitkul J, Paul ND, Vickers CE, Possell M, Taylor JE, Mullineaux PM,... & Hewitt CN (2008b) Isoprene emissions influence herbivore feeding decisions. Plant, Cell and Environment 31: 1410–1415.
- Laothawornkitkul J, Taylor JE, Paul ND, Hewitt CN (2009) Biogenic volatile organic compounds in the Earth system. New Phytologist 183: 27–51.
- Laule O, Furholz A, Chang HS, Zhu T, Wang X, Heifetz PB,... & Lange M (2003) Crosstalk between cytosolic and plastidial pathways of isoprenoid biosynthesis in

*Arabidopsis thaliana*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100:6866–6871.

- Li Z, Sharkey TD (2013) Profiling of themethylerythritol phosphate pathway reveals thesource of post-illumination isoprene burst from leaves. Plant Cell & Environment 36:429–437.
- Lin C, Owen SM, Peñuelas J (2007) Volatile organic compounds in the roots and rhizosphere of Pinus spp. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 39: 951–960.
- Loreto F, Schnitzler JP (2010) Abiotic stresses and induced BVOCs. Trends in plant science 15: 154–166.
- Loivamäki M, Mumm R, Dicke M, Schnitzler JP (2008) Isoprene interferes with the attraction of bodyguards by herbaceous plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105: 17430–17435.
- Maldonado-López Y, Cuevas-Reyes P, Sánchez-Montoya G, Oyama K, Quesada M (2014) Growth, plant quality and leaf damage patterns in a dioecious tree species: is gender important?. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 8: 241–251.
- Manney GL, Santee ML, Rex M, Livesey NJ, Pitts MC, Veefkind P,... & Zinoviev NS (2011) Unprecedented Arctic ozone loss in 2011. Nature 478: 469–475.
- Mäntylä E, Alessio GA, Blande JD, Heijari J, Holopainen JK, Laaksonen T,... & Klemola T (2008) From plants to birds: higher avian predation rates in trees responding to insect herbivory. PLoS One 3:e2832.
- McGarvey DJ, CroteauR (1995) Terpenoid metabolism. The Plant Cell 7:1015-1026.
- McKenzie RL, Aucamp PJ, Bais AF, Björn LO, Ilyas M, Madronich S (2011) Ozone depletion and climate change: impacts on UV radiation. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 10: 182–198.
- Meinshausen M, Meinshausen N, Hare W, Raper SC, Frieler K, Knutti R,... & Allen MR (2009) Greenhouse-gas emission targets for limiting global warming to 2 C. Nature 458: 1158–1162.
- Menzel A, Sparks TH, Estrella N, Koch E, Aasa A, Ahas R,... & Zust ANA (2006) European phenological response to climate change matches the warming pattern. Global change biology 12: 1969–1976.
- Mercado LM, Bellouin B, Sitch S, Boucher O, Huntingford C, Wild M, ... & Cox P (2009) Impact of changes in diffuse radiation on the global land carbon sink. Nature 458:1014–1017.
- Moles A (2013) Dogmatic is problematic: Interpreting evidence for latitudinal gradients in herbivory and defence. Ideas in Ecology & Evolution 6:1–4.
- Monson RK (2013) Metabolic and gene expression controls on the production of biogenic volatile organic compounds. In: Niinemets Ü, Monson RK (eds) Biology,

controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree physiology. Springer, Berlin, pp 153–179.

- Nemani RR, Keeling CD, Hashimoto H, Jolly WM, Piper SC, Tucker CJ,... & Running SW(2003) Climate-driven increases in global terrestrial net primary production from 1982 to 1999. Science 300:1560–1563.
- Nerg AM, Kainulainen P, Vuorinen M, Hanso M, Holopainen JK, Kurkela T (1994) Seasonal and geographical variation of terpenes, resin acids and total phenolics in nursery grown seedlings of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). New Phytologist 128: 703–713.
- Neuvonen S, Bylund H, Tømmervik H (2005) Forest defoliation risks in birch forest by insects under different climate and land use scenarios in northern Europe. In Plant ecology, herbivory, and human impact in Nordic mountain birch forests, pp. 125–138. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Niinemets Ü (2010a) Mild versus severe stress and BVOCs: thresholds, priming and consequences. Trends in Plant Sciences 15:145–153.
- Niinemets Ü (2010b) Responses of forest trees to single and multiple environmental stresses from seedlings to mature plants: past stress history, stress interactions, tolerance and acclimation. Forest Ecology and Management 260:1623–1639.
- Niinemets Ü, Loreto F, Reichstein M (2004) Physiological and physicochemical controls on foliar volatile organic compound emissions. Trends in plant science 9: 180-186.
- Niinemets Ü, Reichstein M (2003) Controls on the emission of plant volatiles through stomata: sensitivity or insensitivity of the emission rates to stomatal closure explained. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984–2012): 108 (D7).
- Niinemets Ü, Sun Z (2015) How light, temperature, and measurement and growth [CO2] interactively control isoprene emission in hybrid aspen. Journal of Experimental Botany 66: 841–851.
- Oksanen E, Kontunen-Soppela S, Riikonen J, Peltonen P, Uddling J, Vapaavuori E (2007) Northern environment predisposes birches to ozone damage. Plant Biology 9:191–196.
- Olsson R (2009) Boreal forest and climate change. Air pollution and climate Secretariat and Taiga Rescue Network. Götenberg, Swweden.
- Oren R, Ellsworth DS, Johnsen KH, Phillips N, Ewers BE, Maier C,... & Katul, GG (2001) Soil fertility limits carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems in a CO<sub>2</sub>enriched atmosphere. Nature 411:469–472.
- Ovaska J, Nilsen J, Wielgolaski FE, Kauhanen H, Partanen R, Neuvonen S,... & Laine K (2005) Phenology and performance of mountain birch provenances in transplant gardens: latitudinal, altitudinal and oceanity–continentality gradients. In:

Wielgolaski FE (ed) Plant Ecology, Herbivory, and Human Impact in Nordic Mountain Birch Forests. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 99–115.

- Owen SM, Peñuelas J (2005) Opportunistic emissions of volatile isoprenoids. Trends in plant science 10: 420–426.
- Paré PW, Tumlinson JH (1997) De novo biosynthesis of volatiles induced by insect herbivory in cotton plants. Plant Physiology 114:1161–1167.
- Paré PW, Tumlinson JH (1999) Plant volatiles as a defence against insect herbivores. Plant Physiology 121:325–332.
- Parmesan C (2007) Influences of species, latitudes and methodologies on estimates of phenological response to global warming. Global Change Biology 13: 1860–1872.
- Parmesan C, Ryrholm N, Stefanescu C, Hill JK, Thomas CD, Descimon H,... & Warren M (1999) Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. Nature 399: 579–853.
- Parmesan C, Yohe G (2003) A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. Nature 421: 37–42.
- Pegoraro E, Rey A, Bobich EG, Barron-Gafford G, Grieve KA, Malhi Y,... & Murthy R (2004) Effect of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and vapour pressure deficit on isoprene emission from leaves of *Populus deltoides* during drought. Funct Plant Biol 31:1137–1147.
- Pennings SC, Silliman BR (2005) Linking biogeography and community ecology: latitudinal variation in plant-herbivore interaction strength. Ecology 86: 2310– 2319.
- Peñuelas J, Llusià J (2003) BVOCs: plant defense against climate warming? Trends in Plant Sciences 8:105–109.
- Peñuelas J, Llusià J, Asensio D, Munné-Bosch S (2005) Linking isoprene with plant thermotolerance, antioxidants, and monoterpene emissions. Plant, cell & environment 28: 278–286.
- Peñuelas J, Rutishauser T, Filella I (2009) Phenology feedbacks on climate change. Science 324: 887.
- Pinto DM, Blande JD, Nykanen R, Dong W-X, Nerg A-M, Holopainen JK (2007) Ozone degrades common herbivore-induced plant volatiles: Does this affect herbivore prey location by predators and parasitoids? Journal of Chemical Ecology 33:683–694.
- Possell M, Loreto F (2013) The role of volatile organic compounds in plant resistance to abiotic stresses: responses and mechanisms. In: Niinemets Ü, Monson RK (eds) Biology, controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree physiology (pp. 209–235). Springer Netherlands.

- Pureswaran, DS, De Grandpré L, Paré D, Taylor A, Barrette M, Morin H,... & Kneeshaw DD (2014) Climate-induced changes in host tree-insect phenology may drive ecological state-shift in boreal forest. Ecology 96:1480–1491.
- Randriamanana TR, Lavola A, Julkunen-Tiitto R (2015) Interactive effects of supplemental UV-B and temperature in European aspen seedlings: Implications for growth, leaf traits, phenolic defense and associated organisms. Plant Physiology & Biochemistry 93: 84–93.
- Randriamanana TR, Nybakken L, Lavola A, A phalo PJ, Nissinen K, Julkunen-Tiitto R (2014) Sex-related differences in growth and carbon allocation to defence in *Populus tremula* as explained by current plant defence theories. Tree Physiology 34:471–487.
- Rasmann S, Buri A, Gallot-Lavallée M, Joaquim J, Purcell J, Pellissier L (2014) Differential allocation and deployment of direct and indirect defences by *Vicia sepium* along elevation gradients. Journal of Ecology 102: 930–938.
- Ravishankara AR, Daniel JS, Portmann RW (2009) Nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Science 326:123–5.
- Rinnan R, Michelsen A, Bååth E (2011) Long-term warming of a subarctic heath decreases soil bacterial community growth but has no effects on its temperature adaptation. Applied Soil Ecology 47: 217–220.
- Rodríguez-Concepción M, Forés O, Martínez-García JF, González V, Phillips MA,... & Boronat A (2004) Distinct light-mediated pathways regulate the biosynthesis and exchange of isoprenoid precursors during Arabidopsis seedling development. The Plant Cell 16: 144–156.
- Root TL, Price JT, Hall KR, Schneider SH, Rosenzweig C, Pounds JA (2003) Fingerprints of global warming on wild animals and plants. Nature 421: 57–60.
- Ruckstuhl KE, Johnson EA, Miyanishi K (2008) Introduction. The boreal forest and global change. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 363: 2243–2247.
- Ruohomäki K, Tanhuanpää M, Ayres MP, Kaitaniemi P, Tammaru T, Haukioja E (2000) Causes of cyclicity of *Epirrita autumnata* (Lepidoptera, Geometridae): grandiose theory and tedious practice. Population Ecology 42: 211–223.
- Saarinen K, Lahti T, Marttila O (2003) Population trends of Finnish butterflies (Lepidoptera: Hesperioidea, Papilionoidea) in 1991–2000. Biodiversity & Conservation 12: 2147–2159.
- Schaub A, Blande JD, Graus M, Oksanen E, Holopainen JK Hansel A (2010) Real-time monitoring of herbivore induced volatile emissions in the field. Physiologia Plantarum. 138: 123–133.

- Schemske DW, Mittelbach GG, Cornell HV, Sobel JM, Roy K (2009) Is there a latitudinal gradient in the importance of biotic interactions? Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 40:245–269.
- Schollert M, Kivimäenpää M, Valolahti HM, Rinnan R (2015) Climate change alters leaf anatomy, but has no effects on volatile emissions from arctic plants. Plant, cell & environment 38:2048–2060.
- Serreze MC, Walsh JE, Chapin III FS, Osterkamp T, Dyurgerov M, Romanovsky V,... & Barry RG (2000) Observational evidence of recent change in the northern highlatitude environment. Climatic Change 46: 159–207.
- Sharkey TD (2005) Effects of moderate heat stress on photosynthesis: Importance of thylakoid reactions, Rubisco deactivation, reactive oxygen species, and thermotolerance provided by isoprene. Plant Cell &Environment 28:269–277.
- Sharkey TD, Singsaas EL (1995) Why plants emit isoprene. Nature 374:769.
- Sharkey TD, Wiberley AE, Donohue AR (2008) Isoprene emission from plants: why and how. Annals of Botany 101: 5–18.
- Sharkey TD, Yeh S (2001) Isoprene emission from plants. Annual review of plant biology 52: 407–436.
- Staudt M, Joffre R, Rambal S (2003) How growth conditions affect the capacity of *Quercus ilex* leaves to emit monoterpenes. New Phytologist 158:61–73.
- Steeghs M, Bais HP, de Gouw J, Goldan P, Kuster W, Northway M,... & Vivanco JM (2004) Proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry as a new tool for real time analysis of root-secreted volatile organic compounds in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 135: 47–58.
- Silfver T, Roininen H, Oksanen E, Rousi M (2009) Genetic and environmental determinants of silver birch growth and herbivore resistance. Forest Ecology & Management 257: 2145–2149.
- Sindelarova K, Granier C, Bouarar I, Guenther A, Tilmes S, Stavrakou T,... & Knorr W (2014) Global data set of biogenic VOC emissions calculated by the MEGAN model over the last 30 years. Atmospheric Chemistry & Physics 14: 9317–9341.
- Singsaas EL, Laporte MM, Shi JZ, Monson RK, Bowling DR, Johnson K,... & Sharkey TD (1999) Kinetics of leaf temperature fluctuation affect isoprene emission from red oak (*Quercus rubra*) leaves. Tree Physiology 19:917–924.
- Singsaas EL, Lerdau M, Winter K, Sharkey TD (1997) Isoprene increases thermotolerance of isoprene-emitting species. Plant Physiology 115:1413–1420.
- Singsaas EL, Sharkey TD (2000) The effects of high temperature on isoprene synthesis in oak leaves. Plant Cell & Environment 23:751–757
- Sparks TH, Menzel A (2002) Observed changes in seasons: an overview. International Journal of Climatology 22: 1715–1725.

Stange EE, Ayres MP (2010) Climate Change Impacts: Insects. eLS.

- Stewart-Jones A, Poppy G (2006) Comparison of Glass Vessels and Plastic Bags for Enclosing Living Plant Parts for Headspace Analysis. Journal of Chemical Ecology 32: 845–864.
- Stolarski RS, Douglass AR, Oman LD, Waugh DW (2015) Impact of future nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide emissions on the stratospheric ozone layer. Environmental Research Letters 10: 034011.
- Suominen O, Edenius L, Ericsson G, Resco de Dios V (2003) Gastropod diversity in aspen stands in coastal northern Sweden. Forest Ecology & Management 175: 403–412.
- Takabayashi J, Dicke M (1996) Plant-carnivore mutualism through herbivore-induced carnivore attractants. Trends in Plant Science 1: 109–113.
- Takabayashi J, Dicke M, Posthumus MA (1994) Volatile herbivore-induced terpenoids in plant-mite interactions: variation caused by biotic and abiotic factors. Journal of Chemical Ecology 20:1329–1354
- Tenow O, Nilssen AC, Holmgren B, Elverum F (1999) An insect (*Argyresthia retinella*, Lep., Yponomeutidae) outbreak in northern birch forests, released by climatic changes?. Journal of Applied Ecology 36: 111–122.
- Tiiva P, Rinnan R, Faubert P, Räsänen J, Holopainen T, Kyrö E,... & Holopainen JK. (2007) Isoprene emission from a subarctic peatland under enhanced UV-B radiation. New Phytologist 176: 346–355.
- Travis JM, Delgado M, Bocedi G, Baguette M, Bartoń K, Bonte D,... & Bullock JM (2013) Dispersal and species' responses to climate change. Oikos 122:1532–1540.
- Trowbridge AM, Daly RW, Helmig D, Stoy PC, Monson RK (2014) Herbivory and climate interact serially to control monoterpene emissions from pinyon pine forests. Ecology 95: 1591–1603.
- Trowbridge AM, Stoy PC (2013) BVOC-mediated plant-herbivore interactions. In: Niinemets Ü, Monson RK (eds) Biology, controls and models of tree volatile organic compound emissions, vol 5, Tree physiology. Springer, Berlin, pp 21–46.
- Van Alstyne KL, Dethier MN, Duggins DO (2001) Spatial patterns in macroalgal chemical defenses. Marine chemical ecology. CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 301–324.
- Velikova V, Loreto F (2005) On the relationship between isoprene emission and thermotolerance in *Phragmites australis* leaves exposed to high temperatures and during the recovery from a heat stress. Plant Cell & Environment 28:318–327.
- Vickers CE, Gershenzon J, Lerdau MT, Loreto F (2009) A unified mechanism of action for volatile isoprenoids in plant abiotic stress. Nature Chemical Biology 5:283– 291.

- Visser ME, Both C (2005) Shifts in phenology due to global climate change: the need for a yardstick. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 272: 2561– 2569.
- Volney WJA, Fleming RA (2000) Climate change and impacts of boreal forest insects. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 82: 283–294.
- Vuorinen T, Nerg AM, Holopainen JK (2004) Ozone exposure triggers the emission of herbivore-induced plant volatiles, but does not disturb tritrophic signalling. Environmental Pollution 131: 305–311.
- Vuorinen T, Nerg AM, Syrjälä L, Peltonen P, Holopainen JK (2007) *Epirrita autumnata* induced VOC emission of silver birch differ from emission induced by leaf fungal pathogen. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 1: 159–165.
- Wainhouse D, Ashburner R (1996) The influence of genetic and environmental factors on a quantitative defensive trait in spruce. Functional Ecology 10: 137–143.
- Wainhouse D, Ashburner R, Ward E, Rose J (1998) The effect of variation in light and nitrogen on growth and defence in young Sitka Spruce. Functional Ecology 12: 561–572.
- Walther GR, Post E, Convey P, Menzel A, Parmesan C, Beebee TJ,... & Bairlein F (2002) Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416: 389–395.
- Wenke K, Kai M, Piechulla B (2010) Belowground volatiles facilitate interactions between plant roots and soil organisms. Planta 231: 499–506.

Went FW (1960) Blue hazes in the atmosphere. Nature 187:641-643.

- Williams DW, Liebhold AM (2002) Climate change and the outbreak ranges of two North American bark beetles. Agricultural and Forest Entomology 4: 87–99.
- Worrel R (1995) European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.): a review with particular reference to Scotland I. Distribution, ecology and genetic variation. Forestry 68: 93–105.

### Mengistu Mengesha Maja

Volatile organic compounds emitted from silver birch and European aspen in response to environmental stresses

> Climate change-related stresses are increasing in extent and frequency especially in boreal region, which leads to a wide range of plant responses including the emission of volatile organic compounds (VOC). This thesis discusses the effects of biotic (insect herbivory) and abiotic (warming and UV-radiation) stresses on VOC emissions from deciduous tree species. This information contributes to the understanding of stress-induced VOC emissions from deciduous trees in the face of global change.



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences

> ISBN: 978-952-61-1969-4 ISBN: 978-952-61-1970-0 (PDF) ISSN: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668 (PDF)